

REGULATION OF ANTIOXIDANT DEFENSE IN CELLS DERIVED FROM THE HUMAN LUNG

by

Petra Pietarinen-Runtti

Hospital for Children and Adolescents University of Helsinki

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed by permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, in the Niilo Hallman Auditorium of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, on February 11th, at 12 noon.

HELSINKI 2000

Supervised by:

Professor Vuokko L. Kinnula Department of Internal Medicine University of Oulu Oulu, Finland

Professor Kari O. Raivio Hospital for Children and Adolescents University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Reviewed by:

Docent Matti Nuutinen Department of Pediatrics University of Oulu Oulu, Finland

Docent Heikki Repo Division of Infectious Disease University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

ISBN 951-459011-2 (PDF version) Helsingin yliopiston verkkojulkaisut Helsinki 2000

CONTENTS

SUMMARY	5
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
LIST OF NONSTANDARD ABBREVIATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	9
1. Reactive oxygen species (ROS)	9
1.1. Chemistry of ROS	9
1.2. Sources of ROS in the lung	10
1.3. Comparison of ROS production between various cells types in the lung	11
1.4. Effects of ROS	12
1.5. Lung injury caused by ROS	13
2. Antioxidant defense mechanisms	15
2.1. Superoxide dismutases	15
2.2. Catalase	16
2.3. Glutathione redox cycle	16
2.4. Antioxidant enzymes in the lung	17
2.5. Regulation of AOEs in the lung	18
2.6. Importance of AOEs in oxidant defense	19
2.7. Nonenzymatic antioxidants	21
3. Clinical implications of antioxidant defense in the lung	22
3.1. Adult respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS)	22
3.2. Inflammatory airway diseases	22
3.3. Interstitial lung diseases	23
3.4. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD)	24
3.5. Therapeutic implications for improving antioxidant defense in the lung	25
AIMS OF THE STUDY	26
MATERIALS AND METHODS	27
1. Cells and culture	27
1.1. Cell lines (I-III)	27
1.2. Primary cell isolation and culture (IV-V)	27
2. Pretreatments and oxidant exposures (I-V)	28
2.1. Inactivation of AOEs (IV, V)	28
2.2. Exposures to cytokines (I-III), hyperoxia (I, II), and asbestos fibers (III)	29
2.3. Oxidant exposures (I-V)	29
3. Measurement of enzyme activities (I-V) and glutathione concentrations (II, V)	29
4. Northern blotting analysis (II, III, V)	30
5. Western blotting analysis (I,V)	30
6. Immunohistochemistry (IV)	31
7. H ₂ O ₂ consumption (II, IV)	31
8. Measurement of ROS production (I)	32

0. Managurament of call injury	27
9. Measurement of cen injury	גע 22
9.1. Hypan blue exclusion (V))Z
9.2. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release (I-III)	52
9.3. Adenine nucleotide depletion (I-V)	32
10. Statistical methods	33
RESULTS	34
1. Superoxide dismutases	34
1.1. Bronchial epithelial BEAS-2B cells	34
1.2. Mesothelial MET-5A cells	34
1.3. Inflammatory cells	36
1.4. Effect of cytokine-induced MnSOD on oxidant-related cytotoxicity	36
2. H ₂ O ₂ scavenging mechanisms	37
2.1. Bronchial epithelial BEAS-2B cells	37
2.2. Inflammatory cells	37
2.3. Importance of different AOE pathways in oxidant-related cytotoxicity of inflammator	ſУ
cells	39
DISCUSSION	40
1. Methodological aspects	40
2. Superoxide dismutases	41
2.1. CuZnSOD	41
2.2. MnSOD	42
3. H ₂ O ₂ scavenging mechanisms	45
3.1. Catalase	45
3.2. Glutathione redox cycle	47
CONCLUSIONS	49
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	50
REFERENCES	51

SUMMARY

Oxidative stress has been increasingly implicated in the pathogenesis of lung diseases. Antioxidant mechanisms and their regulation are poorly characterized in the human lung, but they may be important in the development and progression of pulmonary diseases. The present study was designed to investigate the regulation of the most important antioxidant enzymes (AOEs), superoxide dismutases (MnSOD, CuZnSOD), catalase, and glutathione peroxidase (GPx), in human lung cells by exposing them to agents and states (cytokines, asbestos fibers, oxidants, and hyperoxia), which may play an important role in the pathogenesis of lung diseases.

Enzyme regulation was investigated in cultured human bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B), pleural mesothelial cells (MET-5A), alveolar macrophages, monocytes, and neutrophils. Enzyme expression was assessed at the level of mRNA, protein, and/or activity. Cell injury was measured by lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release and/or depletion of high-energy nucleotides. Copper-zinc superoxide dismutase was constitutively expressed in all cell types investigated. The specific activity of MnSOD was quite low, but similar in all cell types. It was induced by TNF- α but not by high oxygen tension or asbestos fibers in BEAS-2B and MET-5A cells, respectively. Induction of MnSOD by TNF- α offered no protection against subsequent oxidant exposure. Catalase, glutathione peroxidase and reductase were constitutively expressed in BEAS-2B cells, with no change during exposure to any agent. The activity of catalase was highest in neutrophils, whereas glutathione levels and enzymes of the glutathione cycle were highest in monocytes. Catalase was the main scavenger of exogenous H_2O_2 in alveolar macrophages and also appeared to explain the high resistance of neutrophils against exogenous H_2O_2 . During the respiratory burst of alveolar macrophages, the glutathione redox cycle was mainly responsible for the maintenance of cellular integrity. Low levels of glutathione and related enzymes may account for the short survival of human neutrophils.

In conclusion, MnSOD is induced by TNF- α , but cytokine-induced MnSOD does not protect lung cells against oxidant-induced damage. The enzymes associated with the scavenging of H₂O₂ are not upregulated by cytokines or oxidants, but they play an important role in scavenging of both exogenous H₂O₂ and endogenous oxidants in a cell-specific manner. Because transformed cell lines or cell culture conditions for primary cells were used, the results should be extrapolated with caution with respect to the situation in vivo.

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Kinnula, V. L., P. Pietarinen, K. Aalto, I. Virtanen, and K.O. Raivio. Mitochondrial superoxide dismutase induction does not protect epithelial cells during oxidant exposure in vitro. Am. J. Physiol. 268:L71-L77, 1995.
- II Pietarinen-Runtti P., K. O. Raivio, M. Saksela, T. M. Asikainen, and V. L. Kinnula. Antioxidant enzyme regulation and resistance to oxidants of human bronchial epithelial cells cultured under hyperoxic conditions. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 19:286-292, 1998.
- III Pietarinen-Runtti, P., K. O. Raivio, K. Linnainmaa, A. Ekman, M. Saksela, and V. L. Kinnula. Differential effects of tumor necrosis factor and asbestos fibers on manganese superoxide dismutase induction and oxidant-induced cytotoxicity in human mesothelial cells. Cell Biol. Toxicol. 12:167-175, 1996.
- IV Pietarinen, P., K. O. Raivio, R. B. Devlin, J. D. Crapo, L. Y. Chang, and V. L. Kinnula. Catalase and glutathione reductase protection of human alveolar macrophages during oxidant exposure in vitro. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.13:434-441, 1995.
- V Pietarinen-Runtti P., E. Lakari, K. O. Raivio, and V. L. Kinnula.Expression of antioxidative enzymes in human inflammatory cells.Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. In Press.

LIST OF NONSTANDARD ABBREVIATIONS

AMOS	amosite
AOE	antioxidant enzymes
ARDS	adult respiratory distress syndrome
ATZ	aminotriazole
BAL	bronchoalveolar lavage
BCNU	1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea
BPD	bronchopulmonary dysplasia
BSO	buthionine sulfoximine
CDNB	1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CuZnSOD	copper-zinc superoxide dismutase
ECSOD	extracellular superoxide dismutase
EDTA	ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid
FMLP	formyl-methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine
G6PDH	glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase
GPx	glutathione peroxidase
GR	glutathione reductase
GSH	glutathione, reduced
GSSG	glutathione, oxidized
H_2O_2	hydrogen peroxide
IFN-γ	interferon-γ
IL-1	interleukin-1
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
MnSOD	manganese superoxide dismutase
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
O_2 .	superoxide anion
$^{1}O_{2}$	singlet oxygen
OH.	hydroxyl radical
ONOO ⁻	peroxynitrite
PEG	polyethylene glycol
RO [.]	alkoxyl radical
ROO [.]	peroxyl radical
ROOH	lipid hydroperoxide
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SOD	superoxide dismutase
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor α
XO	xanthine oxidase

INTRODUCTION

Oxygen-derived free radicals and other reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced during normal cellular metabolism. ROS are potentially harmful because they have the ability to react with and alter all principal components of the cell, including lipids, proteins, carbohydrates, and nucleic acids. To prevent oxidant damage, cells have evolved antioxidant enzymes (AOEs), such as superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase, as well as nonenzymatic scavengers. An imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants leads to oxidative stress, which has been proposed to play an important role in the pathogenesis of many diseases. Although damaging, ROS also have beneficial functions as part of the host defense against micro-organisms and as cellular signaling agents.

Reactive oxygen species appear to play an important role in the lung both in health and in disease. Lung cells are the first to encounter inspired oxygen, and the oxygen concentration in the lung is relatively high compared to levels in other organs. The generation of ROS is further increased by inhaled toxic particles and gases. Considerable evidence suggests that ROS, produced both intracellularly by lung parenchymal cells and extracellularly by lung macrophages and infiltrating neutrophils, play a central role in the pathogenesis of various lung diseases, such as adult respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD), granulomatous lung diseases, and asbestos-induced diseases (Heffner and Repine 1989, Barnes 1990, Sibille and Reynolds 1990, Kamp et al. 1992, Kinnula et al. 1995).

The lungs have efficient antioxidative defense mechanisms. The primary defense mechanisms against oxidant stress are AOEs. Based on animal models, various lung cell types appear to differ in their resistance against oxidants, which may in part be explained by differences in the antioxidant defense mechanisms of the cells. Although various studies conducted on animal-cell models in vivo and in vitro have shown that increased activities of pulmonary AOEs confer resistance on oxidants, and that the regulation of AOEs is complex, little is known about the role and regulation of AOEs in the human lung. Furthermore, the protective effect of the induction of various AOEs has remained unclear.

This series of studies aimed to compare the expression and regulation of various AOEs as well as their relative importance in human bronchial epithelial cells, pleural mesothelial cells, and alveolar macrophages. In these experiments the cells were exposed to factors relevant in the pathogenesis of oxidant-related lung diseases, such as high oxygen tension, cytokines, and asbestos fibers. Furthermore, the significance of AOE induction in cell protection was investigated.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. Reactive oxygen species (ROS)

1.1. Chemistry of ROS

A free radical is defined as any molecule or atom which contains one or more unpaired electrons in its outer orbit (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989). The presence of an unpaired electron makes the species highly reactive. The lifetime of various radicals is only a fraction of a second, but there is considerable difference between various radicals (Pryor 1986). These compounds can be formed by the loss of a single electron from a non-radical, by gain of a single electron by a non-radical, or by homolytic fission, in which a covalent bond is broken and each fragment retains its own electron. A free radical is shown in chemical formulas by a dot, R^{*}. The most important radicals in biological systems are the superoxide anion (O₂^{-•}), hydroxyl radical (OH[•]), nitric oxide (NO[•]), and the lipid-derived peroxyl radical (ROO[•]) and alkoxyl radical (RO[•]).

The term "reactive oxygen species" (ROS) is often used to refer to free radicals and other oxygen-related reactive compounds, such as singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and hydroperoxides (ROOH) (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989). All these compounds have the potential to cause free-radical reactions (Pryor 1986). When a free radical reacts with a non-radical molecule, the target molecule is converted to a radical, which may further react with another molecule.

The primary formation of most of the ROS is the reduction of molecular oxygen with the formation O_2^{-} (Fridovich 1983, Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989). Although the reactivity of O_2^{-} is quite low, it is capable of initiating free-radical chain reactions. Superoxide undergoes a dismutation to form H₂O₂ spontaneously or enzymatically (I). The spontaneous dismutation rate is slow, whereas the reaction catalyzed by superoxide dismutases (SOD) is 10^4 times as fast (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989). Superoxide can also react with nitric oxide (NO⁻) to form peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) (Beckman et al. 1994).

(I)
$$O_2^{-\cdot} + O_2^{-\cdot} + 2H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2 + O_2$$

Hydrogen peroxide is more stable than O_2^{-} . It can diffuse through the plasma membrane, and if not scavenged locally by catalase or glutathione peroxidase, can promote radical reactions far from its origin (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989).

The most reactive and potentially harmful radical has been considered to be OH[•] (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989). Because the lifetime of OH[•] is extremely short, it can thus be expected to react at or close to its site of formation. The hydroxyl radical is generated from H_2O_2 through the Fenton reaction catalyzed by the transition metals iron or copper (II):

(II)
$$\operatorname{Fe}^{2+} + \operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{O}_2 \to \operatorname{Fe}^{3+} + \operatorname{OH}^- + \operatorname{OH}^-$$

or from O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 through the Haber-Weiss reaction catalyzed by iron or copper (III) (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989):

(III)
$$O_2^{-} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow O_2 + OH^{-} + OH^{-}$$

catalyst

1.2. Sources of ROS in the lung

Reactive oxygen species are generated in the normal metabolism of all aerobic cells. Lung cells are the first to encounter inspired oxygen, and oxygen concentration in the lung is higher than levels in other organs. The basic findings on ROS generation in lung cells have come mostly from rabbit and rat lungs, and the generation of ROS has also been investigated in human alveolar macrophages (Kinnula et al. 1995). Production of ROS is increased as a result of exposure to high oxygen concentrations and to exogenous oxidants like ozone, asbestos fibers, cigarette smoke, radiation, and certain drugs (Freeman and Crapo 1982, Sibille and Reynolds 1990, Crystal 1991, Kamp et al. 1992). Superoxide generation in the mitochondrial respiratory chain is associated with NADH dehydrogenase and the ubiquinone cytochrome b complex (Freeman and Crapo 1982). Findings of increased mitochondrial ROS generation after exposure to hyperoxia suggest that mitochondria are an important source of ROS production in the lung (Freeman and Crapo 1981, Turrens et al. 1982). Superoxide generation is highest when the respiratory chain carriers located in the inner mitochondrial membrane are greatly reduced (Freeman and Crapo 1982). Mitochondrial H_2O_2 is mainly derived from the dismutation of O_2^{-} . Approximately 1 to 2% of the oxygen consumed by the mitochondria is estimated to be converted to O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 .

Cell cytoplasm is also an important site of ROS production. One non-enzymatic source of ROS is the generation of OH[•] by iron-catalyzed reactions (Fenton and Haber-Weiss reactions), and in addition, ROS are formed by intracellular enzymes. Xanthine oxidase (XO) is a cytoplasmic enzyme which under normal conditions is in its dehydrogenase form with no detectable ROS generation. In ischemic tissues, it is converted to oxidase, leading to the production of $O_2^{-\cdot}$ and H_2O_2 during reoxygenation (McCord 1985). Because the level of XO in lung tissue is low, its role in ROS production is probably not significant (Linder et al. 1999). Neutrophils contain myeloperoxidase, which in the presence of halide ions converts H_2O_2 to hypochlorous acid (HOCI), a relative long-lived oxidant (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989). Other sources of ROS possibly relevant in the lung are microsomal cytochrome P-450 enzymes and peroxisomal oxidases.

Reactive oxygen species play an important role in the host defense against microbicidal agents. During phagocytosis, activated inflammatory cells generate ROS through membrane-bound NADPH oxidase - the phenomenon called respiratory burst (Babior 1984). Respiratory burst is induced by various endogenous and extracellular factors such as opsonized bacteria, endotoxin, cytokines, fibrous material, phorbol esters, and formyl-methionyl-leucylphenylalanine (FMLP) (Rossi 1986). Recent studies have detected NADPH oxidase not only in inflammatory cells but also in endothelial cells (Jones et al. 1996).

1.3. Comparison of ROS production between various cells types in the lung

The major sources and the amount of ROS produced vary between species and organs. Although comparison of ROS production between cells is difficult, some studies which have quantified the generation of ROS in various cell types of the lung. The amount of H_2O_2 released by stimulated neutrophils is an order of magnitude higher than that of monocytes (Ruch et al. 1983). Unstimulated rat alveolar macrophages release H_2O_2 at a rate of 3.1 nmol/min/mg protein; rat type II pneumocytes, 0.7 nmol/min/mg protein; and cultured endothelial cells, 0.06 nmol/min/mg protein (Kinnula et al. 1991). Rat pleural mesothelial cells generate minor amounts of H_2O_2 extracellularly (less than 0.1 nmol/min/mg) (Kinnula et al. 1992c).

Exposure to hyperoxia enhances the formation of ROS in rat lung homogenates, in isolated rat lung mitochondria, and in rat alveolar macrophages (Freeman and Crapo 1981, Freeman et al. 1982, Jamieson et al. 1986, Kinnula et al. 1992d). Generation of H_2O_2 by bovine vascular endothelial cells is dependent on oxygen tension, but it is already saturated at low concentrations (10% O_2) (Kinnula et al. 1993). Adult rat lung microsomes and mitochondria produce more ROS than do organelles isolated from neonatal lungs, indicating that ROSgeneration is age-dependent (Frank 1991).

1.4. Effects of ROS

Reactive oxygen species are potentially harmful, because they interact with each other and modify cellular biomolecules (Figure 1). Lipid peroxidation is a radical-mediated chain reaction initiated by abstraction of a hydrogen atom from a polyunsaturated lipid and terminated by chain-breaking antioxidants such as α -tocopherol (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989). Hydroxyl radical, ROO', RO', and some iron complexes, but not O₂^{-.} or H₂O₂, are sufficiently reactive to initiate lipid peroxidation. Excessive peroxidation of membrane lipids disrupts the bilayer arrangement, decreases membrane fluidity, increases membrane permeability, and modifies membrane-bound proteins.

Reactive oxygen species can damage DNA, proteins, and carbohydrates. Radicals induce DNA strand breaks as well as oxidation of purine and pyrimidine bases, and increase the occurrence of mutations (Freeman and Crapo 1982). The appearance of DNA strand breaks activates poly-ADP-ribose polymerase, a DNA repair enzyme, which leads to depletion of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD), depletion of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and alteration in energy balance (Schraufstatter et al. 1986, Hyslop et al. 1988). In addition, ROS can activate or inactivate proteins by oxidizing sulfhydryl groups and modifying amino acids (Davies 1987, Davies and Delsignore 1987).



Figure 1: Effects of reactive oxygen species.

Severe oxidative stress with lipid peroxidation, protein oxidation, DNA damage, and ATP depletion leads to cell death by necrosis, which is characterized by disruption of the cell membrane and cellular organelles. Another mechanism of cell death is apoptosis, a complex cell-suicide mechanism which is beyond the scope of the present study. It has to be emphasized, however, that ROS and changes in the cellular redox state, especially at the level of the mitochondria, may play an important role in regulating and initiating reactions closely associated with apoptosis (Kroemer et al. 1998, Mignotte and Vayssiere 1998).

Although most interest has focused on the damaging effects of ROS, they also have beneficial effects on cells. The importance of ROS as a defense mechanism against microbes has already been mentioned. NO[•] acts as a relaxing factor in the vascular endothelium (Moncada and Higgs 1993). Moreover, ROS have been shown to play a critical role in redox-regulation of gene expression (Sen and Packer 1996), and in cell growth and proliferation (Burdon 1996).

1.5. Lung injury caused by ROS

In the normal lung, the upper airways are lined by pseudostratified ciliated columnar cells, goblet and basal cells. In the distal airways, the epithelium becomes progressively thinner and simplifies, with ciliated and Clara cells predominating. The alveolar epithelium is composed of type I pneumocytes that cover over 90% of the surface area, and cuboidal type II pneumocytes about equal in number. Type II pneumocytes are producers of surfactant and capable of cell division is why they act as progenitor cells of the alveolar epithelium. The respiratory epithelium is covered by epithelial lining fluid containing inflammatory cells, alveolar macrophages, T-lymphocytes, and neutrophils, which play a central role in the defense of the lung. Alveolar macrophages are the predominant cells in the alveolar space, >90% of the cells being macrophages. The pleural mesothelium is covered by a single layer of epithelial cells, called mesothelial cells (Crystal 1991).

The lung is the organ most severely damaged by exposure to hyperoxia. Morphological changes in response to high oxygen tension are very similar among different animals (Crapo 1986, Klein 1990) (Figure 2). Exposure of rats to a lethal dose of hyperoxia (e.g. 100%) is associated with an initiation phase (first 24 to 72 h) with no morphological changes but with increased production of ROS (Freeman et al. 1982). The earliest morphological changes in the hyperoxic rat lung are changes in endothelial cell structure, leading to increased capillary permeability (Crapo et al. 1980). This is followed by accumulation of inflammatory blood cells (platelets and neutrophils) into intravascular and interstitial spaces (Barry and Crapo 1985) and release of inflammatory mediators. The final stage of lethal oxygen toxicity is a destructive

phase with endothelial cell damage after 80 h of hyperoxic exposure. No changes in the number of type I or II pneumocytes are observed in rats, but after 4 days of hyperoxia exposure in monkeys, there is almost complete destruction of type I pneumocytes and hyperplasia of type II pneumocytes (Kapanci et al. 1969). The progression of lung damage is basically similar in sublethal hyperoxia (60-85% O_2), but the onset of the various phases is delayed for up to a week. Proliferation of type II pneumocytes and fibroblasts leads to interstitial fibrosis and development of pulmonary hypertension due to thickening of the walls of pulmonary arteries (Crapo et al. 1980). The most common early manifestations of pulmonary oxygen toxicity in humans are symptoms of tracheobronchitis, occurring as early as 3 h but usually within 12 to16 h of exposure to >95% O₂ (Deneke and Fanburg 1980, Davis et al. 1983, Crapo 1986, Erzurum et al. 1993).



Figure 2: Relative time course of each phase of lung injury caused by lethal and sublethal exposure to hyperoxia. Metabolic events associated with initiation of lung injury cause no morphologic changes (see text). These metabolic events continue throughout most or all of the duration of exposure to hyperoxia. Modified from Crapo 1986.

2. Antioxidant defense mechanisms

Cells contain several antioxidant defense mechanisms to prevent injury. Lung cells differ profoundly in their resistance to oxidant stress, which may be due to differences in their antioxidant capacity or in the balance between oxidants and antioxidants in these cells. These enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant defenses are discussed below. However, prevention of ROS formation and repair of oxidative damage are also essential for the survival of aerobic organisms. Sequestration of transition metals, e.g., by binding to storage and transport proteins, minimizes the "free" iron within the cells and prevents the formation of highly reactive radicals (Fridovich and Freeman 1986, Heffner and Repine 1989).

2.1. Superoxide dismutases

Superoxide dismutases are metalloenzymes which catalyze the dismutation of O_2^{-} to H_2O_2 and O_2 at a rate 10^4 times as fast as than spontaneous dismutation at neutral pH (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989). Three different kinds of SODs have been characterized in eukaryotes; a copper- and zinc-containing form (CuZnSOD) localized in the cytosol, a manganese-containing form (MnSOD) in the mitochondria (Fridovich 1986, Tsan 1997), and a copper- and zinc-containing form in the extracellular matrix (ECSOD) (Marklund 1982). SOD has been shown to play a central role in protecting cells and tissues against oxidant stress (Fridovich and Freeman 1986, Tsan 1997).

Copper-zinc superoxide dismutase, a homodimer with a molecular weight of ca. 32 000, was found by McCord and Fridovich (1969). CuZnSOD is mainly localized in the cytosol, but is also found in the nucleus and peroxisomes, at least in human cells (Crapo et al. 1992). CuZnSOD contains both Cu(II) and Zn(II) at its active sites. CuZnSOD is encoded by a single gene located on chromosome 21. In human cells are found two mRNA transcripts (0.7 and 0.9 kb) (Sherman et al. 1984).

Manganese superoxide dismutase, which constitutes approximately 10 to15% of total cellular SOD activity, is a homotetramer with a molecular weight of ca. 88 000 (Fridovich and Freeman 1986). MnSOD, having manganese (III) at its active site, is localized in the matrix of the mitochondria, this location being optimal for removal of O_2^{--} produced by the respiratory chain. The human MnSOD gene, on chromosome 6, is transcribed into two major mRNA species of 4 and 1 kb having identical coding regions but different lengths of their 3' untranslated regions (Wispe et al. 1989, Church et al. 1992). MnSOD activity can be distinguished from that of CuZnSOD by its resistance to 1 mM potassium cyanide or by the difference between their pH optima. The activity of CuZnSOD

is approximately 10 times as great at pH 10 as at pH 7.8, whereas MnSOD is only twice as active at the higher pH.

Extracellular superoxide dismutase is a secretory tetrameric Cu/Zncontaining glycoprotein, with a molecular weight of around 135 000 (Marklund 1982). ECSOD is the least abundant of the SODs in tissues, but it is the major SOD in extracellular fluids such as plasma and extracellular matrix (Marklund 1984, Sandstrom et al. 1993, Oury et al. 1994). Although most animals have relatively high ECSOD activity in their lungs compared with other tissues, ECSOD accounts for only 5 to 10% of total lung SOD activity (Marklund 1984).

2.2. Catalase

Catalase, a tetrameric hemoprotein with a molecular weight of 240 000, decomposes H_2O_2 to water and oxygen. Catalase is mainly localized in the peroxisomes (Davies et al. 1979), but is also found in the cytosol of human neutrophils (Ballinger et al. 1994) and in rat-heart mitochondria (Radi et al. 1991). The Michaelis-Menten constant (K_m) of catalase is higher than the K_m of glutathione peroxidase (GPx), which suggests that catalase scavenges H_2O_2 efficiently at high H_2O_2 concentrations (Jones et al. 1981).

2.3. Glutathione redox cycle

The glutathione redox cycle is a mechanism which scavenges lipid peroxides and H_2O_2 (Figure 3). The enzymes in the cycle include glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and glutathione reductase (GR). Glutathione peroxidase is a tetrameric selenoprotein which uses reduced glutathione as cosubstrate. Its molecular weight is 85 000. Glutathione peroxidase is localized in the cytosol and mitochondria, at least in rat liver and in human fibroblasts (Mbemba et al. 1985, Behne et al. 1990), with a distinct form found in human plasma (Takahashi et al. 1987). Two other known forms of GPx are selenium-dependent GPx in the intestine (Chu et al. 1993) and phospholipid hydroperoxide GPx (Schuckelt et al. 1991). The regenerated through glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) (Figure 3) (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1989). The glutathione cycle is complementary to catalase in scavenging H_2O_2 . The K_m value of GPx for H_2O_2 is lower than that for catalase, and in contrast to catalase, GPx also reduces lipid peroxides.



Figure 3: Glutathione redox cycle modified from Harlan et al. 1984. γ -GCS: γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase, GST: glutathione S-transferase, G6PDH: glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase, GR: glutathione reductase, GPx: glutathione peroxidase, BSO: buthionine sulfoximine, CDNB: 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene, BCNU: 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea.

2.4. Antioxidant enzymes in the lung

The localization of different AOEs in airways and in lung parenchyma has been investigated by immunohistochemistry and by in situ hybridization, both performed on tissue biopsies and freshly isolated cells derived in most cases from rat lungs (Coursin et al. 1992, Kinnula et al. 1992a, Kinnula et al. 1992c, Clyde et al. 1993, Oury et al. 1994, Chang et al. 1995). CuZnSOD has been shown to be expressed throughout the lung, the highest levels in normal rats being in the bronchial epithelium (Coursin et al. 1992, Chang et al. 1995, Gilks et al. 1998). The expression of MnSOD in healthy lung appears to be low. In situ hybridization of normal rat lung has revealed a consistent pattern of MnSOD mRNA distribution in the lung, the most prominent labeling occurring in the septal tips of alveolar ducts, around arterioles near airways, in alveolar type II pneumocytes, and mesothelial cells (Clyde et al. 1993). According to immunohistochemical studies, MnSOD protein is present in the mitochondria of all rat lung cells, with the highest staining in type II epithelial cells and bronchial epithelium (Coursin et al. 1992, Chang et al. 1995). Comparison of the enzyme activities of rat alveolar type II pneumocytes and alveolar macrophages has shown that the activity of MnSOD is higher in alveolar macrophages (Housset et al. 1991). Both of these SODs are expressed at low levels in human bronchial epithelium, alveolar type II pneumocytes, and alveolar macrophages (Kinnula et al. 1994, Coursin et al. 1996, Lakari et al. 1998).

Extracellular SOD mRNA is found in airway epithelial cells, type II pneumocytes, and fibroblasts of human lung (Su et al. 1997). After its synthesis, ECSOD is secreted, and the ECSOD protein is primarily localized around larger vessels and airways, and to a lesser degree in the intercellular junctions of epithelial cells, and around smooth muscle cells (Oury et al. 1994). Furthermore, rat macrophages and neutrophils invading the lung during inflammation have shown intensive staining for ECSOD protein (Loenders et al. 1998).

Rat alveolar type II pneumocytes, Clara cells, and alveolar macrophages contain large amounts of catalase, whereas endothelial cells and pleural mesothelial cells have very low catalase protein labeling and activity (Kinnula et al. 1991, Kinnula et al. 1992c). In healthy human lung, catalase is mainly expressed in alveolar type II pneumocytes, and to a lesser degree in the bronchial epithelium and alveolar macrophages (Erzurum et al. 1993, Yoo et al. 1994, Coursin et al. 1996, Lakari et al. 1999). Very little is known about the expression of the glutathione cycle enzymes in the lung. Glutathione peroxidase mRNA and protein are expressed in the alveolar and bronchial epithelia of rat lung. However, the most prominent labeling of GPx protein is seen in the extracellular connective tissue of the lung (Coursin et al. 1992, Gilks et al. 1998). Only one study is available on human lung, where the distribution of GPx protein has been investigated. In that study the GPx was localized in the respiratory epithelium (Coursin et al. 1996). Because the activity of catalase, as well as other AOEs, decreases during in vitro culture (Panus et al. 1989, Kinnula et al. 1992a), the results obtained in culture models cannot, therefore, be used in assessment of the levels of various AOEs in human lung.

2.5. Regulation of AOEs in the lung

The regulation of pulmonary AOEs in response to hyperoxia is complex and has been intensively studied in experimental animals (Crapo and Tierney 1974, Freeman et al. 1986, Baker et al. 1989). Exposure of adult rats to 85 to 95% oxygen results in increased mRNA expression of MnSOD (Clerch and Massaro 1993, Ho et al. 1996) and GPx (Ho et al. 1996), but catalase and CuZnSOD mRNAs remain unchanged (Clerch and Massaro 1993, Ho et al. 1996). Simultaneously, the specific activities of these AOEs have been found to increase in some, but not all studies (Kimball et al. 1976, Freeman et al. 1986, Clerch and Massaro 1993, Ho et al. 1996). MnSOD activity in alveolar type II pneumocytes is significantly increased in rats exposed to sublethal hyperoxia (85%) (Freeman et al. 1986). In situ hybridization has shown that a major difference in the distribution of MnSOD mRNA between air- and hyperoxia-exposed rat lung occurs at the pleura (Clyde et al. 1993). However, hyperoxia in vitro does not increase AOE levels or activities in rat or rabbit alveolar epithelial cells (Panus et al. 1989, Housset et al. 1991). Furthermore, recent studies with human bronchial

epithelial cells have shown that total SOD and catalase activities do not increase, or the increase is not sufficiently high enough for cell protection after acute hyperoxia exposure in vivo or in vitro (Erzurum et al. 1993, Yoo et al. 1994).

The regulation of AOEs under oxidant conditions is more complex in vivo than in vitro. The mRNA expression, protein concentrations, and enzyme activities do not correlate with each other (Jornot and Junod 1992, Clerch and Massaro 1993). The induction of MnSOD in rat lungs in vivo is maximal at days 3 to 5 of hyperoxia exposure (Ho et al. 1996), which is also the time required for the recruitment of activated inflammatory cells into the lungs (Barry and Crapo 1985). It can therefore be hypothesized that AOE induction in the lung is related to cytokine release and inflammation rather than to the high oxygen tension itself. It has to be emphasized that the effects of inflammatory cytokines and inflammation are associated with an increased oxidant burden at the cellular level. Manganese superoxide dismutase mRNA or protein or both are induced by several cytokines and oxidants. These include tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) (Wong and Goeddel 1988, Tsan et al. 1990b, Visner et al. 1990, Warner et al. 1991, Visner et al. 1991), interferon- γ (IFN- γ) (Harris et al. 1991), interleukin-1 (IL-1) (Masuda et al. 1988, Visner et al. 1990, Tsan et al. 1991), endotoxin (Visner et al. 1990, Visner et al. 1991, Clerch and Massaro 1993, Tang et al. 1994), cigarette smoke (Gilks et al. 1998), and various oxidants, such as H_2O_2 , thioredoxin, and peroxynitrite (Das et al. 1995, Warner et al. 1996, Jackson et al. 1998). Furthermore, exposure to asbestos fibers or to various fibrogenic materials has been shown to induce MnSOD in tracheal epithelial cells (Mossman et al. 1986) and in alveolar type II pneumocytes in vivo (Holley et al. 1992), and cause MnSOD mRNA upregulation in mesothelial and bronchial epithelial cells in vitro (Janssen et al. 1994a, Marks-Konczalik et al. 1998). It should be pointed out that in contrast to in vitro studies, in which only MnSOD is induced after cytokine exposure, in rats treated with cytokines and hyperoxia the activities of lung CuZnSOD, GPx, and catalase are also induced (White et al. 1989, Tsan et al. 1990a). In addition, ECSOD is upregulated by lipopolysaccharide but not by hyperoxia (Loenders et al. 1998). Most of these studies have been conducted on animal cell models or on various malignant cell lines.

2.6. Importance of AOEs in oxidant defense

Considerable evidence supports the importance of AOEs in pulmonary defense against oxygen toxicity. Animals pre-exposed to sublethal hyperoxia have shown resistance to consequent exposure to 100% O_2 , and this resistance correlates with increased total SOD activity (Crapo and Tierney 1974). Tracheal insufflation of liposome-encapsulated or polyethylene glycol (PEG) -conjugated CuZnSOD or catalase or both protects rats against oxygen toxicity (Freeman et al. 1985, Padmanabhan et al. 1985, Tang et al. 1993). Genetic manipulation that causes an

elevation in or an absence of expression of SODs results, respectively, in increased or decreased tolerance to O_2 (Hassan 1988). Antisense oligonucleotides to MnSOD increase the sensitivity of leukemic cells to the growth-inhibitory effects of TNF- α (Kizaki et al. 1993). Transfection of cultured rat lung L2 cells with human CuZnSOD cDNA protects against xanthine/XO-induced cytotoxicity (Komada et al. 1996). Furthermore, tracheal insufflation of endotoxin, TNF α , or IL-1 results in prolonged survival of adult rats during hyperoxia exposure, with a simultaneous increase in AOEs, most prominently MnSOD (Tsan et al. 1990a, Tsan et al. 1991, Clerch and Massaro 1993). On the other hand, resistance to hyperoxia in vivo is not necessarily related to changes in lung AOEs (Baker et al. 1989).

The possible mechanisms by which endotoxin, cytokines, and hyperoxia enhance MnSOD mRNA are by increased rate of transcription (Visner et al. 1991) or increase in the stability of MnSOD mRNA (Clerch and Massaro 1993). The transient fall in MnSOD activity during exposure to O_2 seen in some studies seems to be due to impaired translational efficiency and to a posttranslational effect, i.e., low MnSOD-specific activity (Clerch et al. 1998).

It has been suggested that cytokine-induced MnSOD protects cells and tissues during oxygen exposure in vivo and in vitro (Wong et al. 1989, Warner et al. 1991, Lewis-Molock et al. 1994, Tsan 1997), but contradictory results with vascular endothelial cells have also been obtained (Marcho et al. 1991). The combination of different AOEs may be more important than any individual enzyme (Amstad et al. 1991, Amstad at al. 1994). For example, tolerance to hyperoxia of transgenic mice overexpressing CuZnSOD is associated with increased activity of GPx (White et al. 1991). It should also be noted that H_2O_2 -scavenging enzymes are increased simultaneously with MnSOD induction (Freeman et al. 1986, Jornot and Junod 1992).

Recent studies with genetically manipulated mice have provided further information about the importance of AOEs in resistance to oxygen toxicity. Transgenic mice that overexpress MnSOD in alveolar type II pneumocytes and in non-ciliated bronchial epithelial cells are tolerant to hyperoxia (Wispe et al. 1992). Homozygous MnSOD knock-out mice die within the first 10 days of life with a dilated cardiomyopathy, accumulation of lipid in the liver and in skeletal muscle, and metabolic acidosis (Li et al. 1995). Heterozygous knock-outs are viable, and are not more susceptible to 100% oxygen than are their normal littermates (Tsan et al. 1998). Transgenic mice, which constitutively express elevated levels of human CuZnSOD, have, upon exposure to hyperoxia, shown increased survival and decreased morphological evidence of lung damage (White et al. 1991), but for unknown reasons, this protective effect has been noted only in a subgroup of young, female transgenic mice. Contradictory results have also been obtained: no protection against hyperoxia in transgenic mice overexpressing CuZnSOD or MnSOD (Ho et al. 1998). Knockout mice lacking ECSOD develop normally, but are more

susceptible to the toxic effects of oxygen (Carlsson et al. 1995), whereas transgenic mice overexpressing ECSOD, when exposed to hyperoxia, show decreased morphological evidence of lung damage and a reduced number of recruited inflammatory cells than do wild-type mice (Folz et al. 1999). Due to its ideal localization in the areas where O_2^{-} is released by phagocytic leukocytes, ECSOD may be important in protecting cell surfaces and extracellular matrix proteins from superoxide-mediated damage.

Catalase and the glutathione-redox cycle are two H₂O₂-scavenging pathways. Glutathione plays an important role in maintaining intracellular redox balance and in cellular defense against oxidative stress (Rahman et al. 1995). Glutathione is present in high concentrations in human lung epithelial lining fluid (Cantin et al. 1987). Extracellular glutathione has also been shown to protect rat alveolar macrophages against hyperoxia, and that this protection is abolished by an inhibitor of γ -glutamyl transpeptidase suggest the importance of the glutathione cycle in alveolar macrophage protection (Forman and Skelton 1990). Furthermore, pulmonary depletion of glutathione in lungs of mice or rats exacerbates oxygen toxicity (Deneke et al. 1985, Smith et al. 1990), and intraperitoneal supplementation of glutathione protects preterm rabbits against oxidant stress (Brown et al. 1996). Inhibition of glutathione synthesis by buthionine sulfoximine (BSO) increases hyperoxic cell injury in rat type II pneumocytes in vitro (Aerts et al. 1992). The significance of H₂O₂-scavenging pathways varies considerably in different cell types. Human alveolar macrophages and freshly isolated rabbit or rat type II pneumocytes protect themselves against exogenous H_2O_2 mainly by a catalase-dependent pathway (Engstrom et al. 1990, McDonald et al. 1991, Kinnula et al. 1992a). On the other hand, vascular endothelial cells or pleural mesothelial cells, both of which contain low AOE levels (Kinnula et al. 1991, Kinnula et al. 1992c), are protected against exogenous H_2O_2 mainly by the glutathione redox pathway (Harlan et al. 1984, Suttorp et al. 1986, Kinnula et al. 1992c). In addition, we have previously shown that the glutathione cycle is important in maintaining intracellular energy metabolism and protecting the cell membrane against oxidant damage in human bronchial epithelial cells (Aalto et al. 1996).

2.7. Nonenzymatic antioxidants

A number of compounds act as non-enzymatic antioxidants. α -tocopherol (vitamin E) is lipophilic, and its major role is to block the chain reaction of lipid peroxidation (Sies et al. 1992). Pre-treatment with vitamin E has been shown in rabbits to prevent lung injury caused by hyperoxia (Jacobson et al. 1990). α -tocopherol and ascorbic acid (vitamin C) cooperate in cellular defense against ROS. Ascorbic acid reduces the oxidized α -tocopheryl radical back to α -tocopherol (Freeman and Crapo 1982). In addition, vitamin C, a hydrophilic

scavenger of ROS, is considered the most important antioxidant in extracellular fluids (Sies et al. 1992). On the other hand, ascorbic acid can promote ROSinjury in the presence of free transition metals (Heffner and Repine 1989). Dietary carotenoids and ubiquinol are also thought to act as antioxidants, but their precise role in vivo is unclear (Halliwell and Gutteridge 1990). In addition to being essential in the glutathione redox cycle, glutathione can scavenge ROS non-enzymatically (Freeman and Crapo 1982), as well as detoxify xenobiotics via the glutathione S-transferase reaction. Glutathione protects SH-groups of proteins from oxidation and maintains vitamin-C levels (Meister 1992). The precursor of glutathione, N-acetyl-cysteine, scavenges ROS and has been used in various clinical trials (Aruoma et al. 1989, Bernard et al. 1997).

3. Clinical implications of antioxidant defense in the lung

3.1. Adult respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS)

Adult respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is characterized by neutrophil accumulation, diffuse pulmonary infiltrates, and pulmonary edema, and in mechanically ventilated patients its severity is increased by the use of high oxygen tensions. It has been suggested that increased production of ROS by activated neutrophils combined with decreased antioxidant capacity plays a central role in the pathogenesis of ARDS (Chabot et al. 1998). Patients with ARDS have elevated concentrations of H_2O_2 in their exhaled air (Sznajder et al. 1989), and the serum of ARDS patients scavenges H_2O_2 more efficiently than that of patients without ARDS, a finding associated with the increased AOE activities in the serum of ARDS patients (Leff et al. 1992, Leff et al. 1993). The glutathione content of alveolar lining fluid is decreased in ARDS (Pacht et al. 1991), and ARDS patients show significantly lower plasma levels of non-enzymatic antioxidants such as α -tocopherol (Metnitz et al. 1999).

3.2. Inflammatory airway diseases

In the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), generation of ROS by activated inflammatory cells plays a central role. Cigarette smoke itself contains ROS. One puff of cigarette smoke has been estimated to contain 10¹⁵ radicals (Church and Pryor 1985). Cigarette smoke also contributes to the recruitment of inflammatory cells to the airways. Furthermore, this inflammation is stimulated by other inhaled pollutants and by cytokines. A protease-antiprotease imbalance plays an important role in the progression of COPD, but an imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants has also been proposed as playing a role in the pathogenesis of this disease (Rahman and MacNee 1996). The data on AOE activities in the lung of cigarette smokers are contradictory.

Alveolar macrophages of smokers and smoke-exposed hamsters have increased activities of SOD and catalase, with no change in GPx (McCusker and Hoidal 1990). Catalase and GPx activities in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cells from smokers are increased, without any difference in SOD activity (Hilbert and Mohsenin 1996). Another study reports that SOD activity of BAL fluid is lower in smokers than in controls (DiSilvestro et al. 1998), and that increased production of O_2^{-} by alveolar macrophages of elderly smokers is associated with a post-translationally modified reduction in AOE activities when compared to those of nonsmokers (Kondo et al. 1994). The mRNA expression of MnSOD is transiently increased in bronchial epithelial cells of smoke-exposed rats. After prolonged exposure, the mRNA level of GPx is also elevated (Gilks et al. 1998).

Bronchial asthma is defined by reversible airflow obstruction, by bronchial hyper-responsiveness, and by chronic inflammation characterized by influx and activation of inflammatory cells and epithelial cell damage (Barnes 1990). Cells obtained from the peripheral blood and lungs of patients with asthma generate increased amounts of ROS (Vachier et al. 1992, Jarjour and Calhoun 1994, Kinnula et al. 1995, Majori et al. 1998). In contrast to what might be expected, peripheral blood cells from asthmatic patients exhibit reduced or unchanged antioxidant defense including reduced GPx and SOD activities (Vachier et al. 1992, Joseph et al. 1993, Misso et al. 1998). In addition, it has recently been shown that in the airway epithelium of asthmatic patients, CuZnSOD, but not catalase or GPx, is decreased (De Raeve et al. 1997, Smith et al. 1997). Decreased antioxidant defense in the airways of asthmatic patients may be associated not only with the increased oxidant burden but also with the epithelial injury of these patients.

3.3. Interstitial lung diseases

Reactive oxygen species may play a central role in the pathogenesis of a variety of interstitial lung diseases such as idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (usual interstitial pneumonia, UIP, and desquamative interstitial pneumonia, DIP), asbestosis, and granulomatous lung diseases (sarcoidosis and allergic alveolitis). Alveolar macrophages from patients with pulmonary fibrosis produce significantly more O_2^{--} (Strausz et al. 1990). Furthermore, it has been found that patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis have higher serum CuZnSOD protein levels than do controls, and that these levels correlate with disease severity (Borzi et al. 1993). Recent studies conducted on human lung tissue have shown high expression of MnSOD in the granulomas of pulmonary sarcoidosis and allergic alveolitis (Lakari et al. 1998), and induction of MnSOD and consistent expression of catalase in the well-preserved alveolar regions of various interstitial lung diseases (Lakari et al. 1999). The role of ROS in the pathogenesis of asbestosrelated diseases is supported by the fact that asbestos fibers enhance ROS generation from inflammatory cells (Kamp et al. 1992), and that the AOEs, especially MnSOD, are induced by asbestos fibers (Mossman et al. 1986, Holley et al. 1992). In addition, treatment of rats with PEG-conjugated catalase reduces lung injury caused by the fibers (Mossman et al. 1990).

3.4. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD)

At birth the infant is exposed to increased oxidative stress. Preterm infants are at high risk for developing chronic lung disease: bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) (Saugstad 1998). Among factors playing an important role in its development are prematurity, barotrauma, volutrauma, and oxygen toxicity. AOE defense against high inspired oxygen levels after birth in preterm infants may be poor, since many investigators have demonstrated that in various animals the expression of MnSOD, CuZnSOD, catalase, and GPx increase toward term in the fetal lung (Tanswell and Freeman 1984, Frank 1991, Clerch and Massaro 1992). Very few studies have reported a similar profile, at least for catalase in human ontogenesis (McElroy et al. 1992, Asikainen et al. 1998). When exposed to hyperoxia, preterm rabbits and baboons (Frank and Sosenko 1991, Morton et al. 1999), but not rats or guinea pigs (Sosenko and Frank 1987, Chen et al. 1994), in contrast to term rats, are unable to induce AOE activities in the lung. Not only AOEs but also surfactant deficiency and ventilator treatment are factors contributing to the development of BPD (Saugstad 1998). In experimental animal models, the morphological changes in BPD, such as endothelial and epithelial damage, alveolar disruption, bronchial smooth muscle hyperplasia, and hyaline accumulation in alveolar spaces, as well as interstitial fibrosis, are also seen in oxygen toxicity (Crapo 1986, Margraf et al. 1991). Moreover, inflammatory cells which are recruited into the lungs (Margraf et al. 1991) can further enhance ROS production, as well as induce the release of inflammatory cytokines. Therefore, it is not surprising that the following results are in line with the cytokine- and hyperoxia-induced MnSOD expression discussed previously. Pulmonary MnSOD is significantly elevated in the lungs of baboons representing an animal model of BPD, and the protein expression is regulated, at least partly, at the posttranscriptional level (Clerch et al. 1996). In human BPD lungs, proliferating type II pneumocytes and alveolar macrophages show intense staining for MnSOD protein (Dobashi et al. 1993, Ohbayashi et al. 1997). Surfactant replacement, antenatal steroid therapy, and more gentle ventilatory techniques have improved the outcome for preterm infants, and new therapeutic approaches with antioxidants and AOE supplementation have also given promising results, although their use in practice needs further investigation.

3.5. Therapeutic implications for improving antioxidant defense in the lung

Considerable effort has been made in recent years to enhance AOE activities and oxygen tolerance by therapeutic utilization of antioxidants. Problems in the protective role of various AOEs are their poor penetrance into cells and extremely short plasma half-lives. Various manipulations of enzymes and means of delivery have thus been tested. Premature infants are known to be deficient in glutathione and selenium (Jain et al. 1995), but glutathione delivery by intravenous or intratracheal routes has failed to raise cellular levels of glutathione, and has not been shown to be protective (Meister 1991). N-acetylcysteine (NAC) administration in adults with ARDS offers some evidence of reduced lung injury (Bernard et al. 1997). A study on the treatment of preterm infants with NAC to improve survival and prevent development of chronic lung injury is ongoing in this hospital. In animals, intravenous or intratracheal administration of liposome-encapsulated or PEG-conjugated SOD and catalase are able to moderate hyperoxia- or asbestos fiber-induced lung damage (Freeman et al. 1985, Padmanabhan et al. 1985, Mossman et al. 1990).

For genetically modified mice, SODs are critically important in protecting the lung from the damaging effects of hyperoxia (Wispe et al. 1992, Carlsson et al. 1995), and lung injury caused by hyperoxia can be prevented by intratracheal administration of SOD (Padmanabhan et al. 1985, Davis et al. 1993, Tang et al. 1993). Recent evidence indicates that SOD may have beneficial effects in preventing lung injury also in humans. When preterm infants are treated with intratracheally delivered recombinant SOD, the concentration and activity of SOD increase in serum, intratracheal fluid, and urine, and the parameters of lung injury decline (Davis et al. 1997). However, preliminary results of a controlled clinical trial fail to suggest any beneficial effect (Davis et al. 1999). Molecular biology has opened new avenues to manipulate genes and express a variety of important proteins. Intratracheal injection of an adenovirus containing SOD and catalase cDNAs have been used successfully to increase enzyme expression in airway epithelium and alveolar macrophages, and thus prevent rats from hyperoxia- or irradiation-induced lung damage (Danel et al. 1998, Epperly et al. 1999).

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The formation of ROS and the consequent oxidative stress has been suggested to be important in the pathogenesis of various lung diseases. Because the antioxidant enzyme system is a primary defense mechanism of the lung, this present study was designed to investigate the role and regulation of the most important AOEs in human lung cells by exposing the cells to agents and states which may play an important role in the pathogenesis of lung diseases (cytokines, asbestos fibers, and hyperoxia). Furthermore, the study investigated the protective role of various AOEs in different cell types of the human lung. The specific aims were to investigate:

- 1) the effect of cytokines (TNF- α and IFN- γ) on MnSOD induction and oxidantrelated cytotoxicity in human bronchial epithelial cells (I)
- 2) the effect of hyperoxia on various antioxidant pathways and on oxidant-related cytotoxicity in human bronchial epithelial cells (II)
- 3) the effect of asbestos fibers and cytokines on MnSOD induction and oxidantrelated cytotoxicity in human pleural mesothelial cells (III)
- 4) the importance of different AOE pathways in oxidant-related cytotoxicity of alveolar macrophages (IV)
- 5) and to compare different AOE pathways in human inflammatory cells and assess their potential effects on cell survival and oxidant-related toxicity (V)

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Cells and culture

1.1. Cell lines (I-III)

Transformed human bronchial epithelial cells (I, II), BEAS-2B, and transformed human pleural mesothelial cells (III), MET-5A, were obtained from the National Cancer Institute, Laboratory of Human Carcinogenesis (Dr. C. Harris, Bethesda, MD, USA). BEAS-2B is an SV40-transformed epithelial cell line established from healthy bronchial epithelium which has been shown to maintain typical epithelial morphology and functional characteristics (Ke et al. 1988, Reddel et al. 1988). BEAS-2B cells contain lower AOE levels than do bronchial epithelial cells in situ, but they express all AOEs, and are therefore an appropriate stable in vitro model to investigate the role and the regulation of AOEs in epithelial cell defense and injury (Kinnula et al. 1994). BEAS-2B cells were cultured on uncoated 4-well tissue-culture plates or 35-mm petri dishes in serum-free hormone-supplemented medium according to the manufacturer's instructions (bronchial epithelial growth medium, BEGM, Clonetics Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). MET-5A is an SV40-transformed mesothelial cell line established from healthy mesothelium. MET-5A cells exhibit features of mesothelial cells, including sensitivity to the cytotoxic effects of asbestos fibers. Because they remain nontumorigenic, they are therefore a useful model for in vitro studies of fiber cytotoxicity (Ke et al. 1989). MET-5A cells were cultured on uncoated 24well tissue-culture plates or 35-mm petri dishes in RPMI-1640 medium (Gibco Europe, Paisley, UK) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco), penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 µg/ml) (Gibco), and L-glutamine (Gibco).

1.2. Primary cell isolation and culture (IV-V)

Peripheral monocytes (V) were isolated from buffy coats (Finnish Red Cross, Helsinki, Finland) by a modification of the method described by Böyum (1968). Briefly, buffy coats were obtained 1-2 h after venipuncture. After dilution 1:3 with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, Orion, Espoo, Finland) and mixing with a glass rod, the cell suspension was layered over Ficoll-Paque (Pharmacia, Biotech AB, Uppsala, Sweden) and centrifuged at 900 x g for 30 min. Mononuclear cells were collected at the interface, washed twice with PBS, and suspended in the standard medium of RPMI-1640 supplemented with L-glutamine, penicillin-streptomycin, and 20% human AB-serum (Finnish Red Cross). Viability tested by trypan blue exclusion was over 90%. Mononuclear cells were incubated in collagen-coated 4-well tissue-culture plates or 35-mm petri dishes (Falcon,

Becton Dickinson U.K. LTD, Plymouth, UK) for 1 h at 37°C. After incubation, non-adherent cells were removed by washing with PBS. Adherent cells were cultured under 5% CO_2 at 37°C for up to 5 days in standard medium, which has been shown to induce maturation of monocytes into so-called monocyte-derived macrophages.

Neutrophils (V) were isolated from the heparinized venous blood of healthy volunteers as previously described (Böyum 1968). Briefly, after sedimentation with 3% dextran (Pharmacia), Ficoll-Paque centrifugation at 400 x g for 40 min, and hypotonic lysis of red blood cells, neutrophils were suspended in standard medium and pelleted immediately or cultured in 4-well tissue culture plates or petri dishes for up to 24 to 72 h. Viability after isolation was over 90%.

Alveolar macrophages (IV, V) were isolated from bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BAL), obtained from patients with minor respiratory symptoms. BAL was centrifuged at 330 x g, and the cells were washed twice with RPMI-1640 medium. Cytocentrifuge preparations indicated that over 90% of the cells were macrophages. For further enrichment, cells were layered in petri dishes or 4well tissue-culture plates in RPMI-1640 medium containing 10% FBS (Gibco), and incubated at 37°C for 1 h or overnight. Non-adherent cells were removed by washing.

Study protocols utilizing patients' samples were approved by the Ethics Committees of the Department of Internal Medicine, University of Helsinki and the Finnish Red Cross.

2. Pretreatments and oxidant exposures (I-V)

2.1. Inactivation of AOEs (IV, V)

To assess the role of different antioxidant enzymes, the cells in culture media were pretreated with 10 μ M 1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene (CDNB, E.Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) for 40 min to conjugate glutathione (Buckley et al. 1991), with 100-500 μ M buthionine sulfoximine (BSO) (Sigma) for 6 h or 16 h to inhibit γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase and deplete glutathione (Griffith and Meister 1979), with 100 μ g/ml 1,3-bis(2-chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) for 15 min to inhibit GR (Babson and Reed 1978), or with 30 mM aminotriazole (ATZ) for 60 min to inactivate catalase (Margoliash et al. 1960). These compounds were removed by washing with PBS before subsequent oxidant exposures. All these inhibitors are widely used, and under these experimental conditions, nontoxic.

2.2. Exposures to cytokines (I-III), hyperoxia (I, II), and asbestos fibers (III)

Subconfluent cultures in standard media were exposed to 10 or 100 ng/ml recombinant human tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (I-III), to 10 or 100 ng/ml human recombinant interferon- γ (IFN- γ) (I), or to a combination of these cytokines (I) each for 16 to 72 h, or to 2 µg/cm² amosite asbestos fibers (AMOS) (III) or to a combination of TNF- α and AMOS (III) each for 48 h. The cytokines were provided by Boehringer Ingelheim, Europe (Vienna, Austria). In hyperoxia experiments (I, II) the cultures were exposed to 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂ for 16 to 72 h. Subconfluent cells in culture medium were placed in a Plexiglas chamber through which gas flow was adjusted so that the high oxygen concentration remained stable during the incubation.

2.3. Oxidant exposures (I-V)

Control and pretreated cells were washed and subsequently exposed to 0.1 to 5 mM H_2O_2 (Merck AG, Darmstadt, Germany) for 2 to 4 h (I, II, IV, V), to 5 to 500 μ M menadione (Sigma) for 2 to 4 h (I-III), to hyperoxia (95% O_2) for 48 h, or to 10^{-7} M formyl-methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (FMLP, Sigma) for 2 h (IV, V). The exact H_2O_2 concentration was determined spectrophotometrically using the molar extinction coefficient of 44 M^{-1} cm⁻¹ at 240 nm.

3. Measurement of enzyme activities (I-V) and glutathione concentrations (II, V)

The cells were detached with trypsin-EDTA (Gibco), pelleted, and immediately frozen at -80°C until analysis. Total SOD activity (I, II, III, V) was assayed spectrophotometrically by measuring the inhibition of the reduction of cytochrome c in the xanthine oxidase reaction at 550 nm (McCord and Fridovich 1969). MnSOD activity was distinguished from CuZnSOD by its resistance to 1 mM potassium cyanide. Catalase activity (I, II, IV, V) was determined polarographically by measuring the oxygen production rate with a Clark oxygen electrode in a stirred chamber (Kinnula et al. 1992a). Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) activity (I) was quantitated spectrophotometrically by following the oxidation of NADP (Löhr and Waller 1974). GR activity (I, II, IV, V) was analyzed by measuring the oxidation of NADPH at 340 nm in the presence of oxidized glutathione (Beutler 1975), and GPx activity (I, II, IV, V) by measuring NADPH oxidation at 340 nm in the presence of *t*-butylhydroperoxide, glutathione, and GR (Beutler 1975). Enzyme activities are expressed as units per milligram protein. Protein was determined by the method of Lowry et al (1951) (I-IV) or by Bio-Rad DC assay (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) (V).

For the analysis of total glutathione levels (II, V), the cells were collected in 2 N perchloric acid containing 2 mM ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid (EDTA). After neutralization with a solution containing 2 M KOH and 0.3 M Nmorpholinopropanesulfonic acid (MOPS), total cellular glutathione content was determined spectrophotometrically by measuring the reduction of 5,5'dithiobis(2-nitrobenzoic acid) (Sigma) by NADPH in the presence of glutathione reductase (Sigma) (Akerboom and Sies 1981). Cellular glutathione content is expressed as nmol/mg protein.

4. Northern blotting analysis (II, III, V)

Cells were collected in 4 M thiocyanate buffer, and the samples were frozen immediately at -80°C. Total RNA was extracted from the cells by the acid phenol-chloroform method (Chomczynski and Sacchi 1987). RNAs (10 or 20 µg/lane) were electrophoresed on a 1% agarose gel containing 0.36 M formaldehyde. Samples were capillary transferred onto Hybond-N nylon filters (Amersham International, Amersham, UK) and cross-linked to the filters by UV illumination (UV Stratalinker 1800; Stratagene, La Jolla, CA, USA). Prehybridization was done at 58.5°C for > 1 h. Filters were hybridized with 32 Plabeled cRNA probes representing nucleotides 596-987 of human MnSOD (Ho and Crapo 1988), 127-457 of human CuZnSOD (Hallewell et al. 1985), 537-2218 of human catalase (Quan et al. 1986), or 533-624 of rat GPx (Ho et al. 1988), each cloned into the pSP65 vector (Promega Co., Southampton, UK). The transcripts were purified by NucTrap columns (Stratagene) and added to the prehybridization solution at 2×10^6 cpm/ml. Hybridization was then carried out at 58.5°C overnight with shaking. After washing, autoradiography was performed at -80°C by use of Kodak BioMax MR film (Eastman Kodak Co, Rochester, NY, USA). Following autoradiography, the filters were rehybridized with a β -actin control probe transcribed from pTRI-\beta-actin plasmid (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA). Antioxidant enzyme mRNA expressions were quantified relative to actin (II, V) (X-Rite, expression by a X-Rite 331 Transmission densitometer Grandville, MI, USA) or NIH Image 1.52 software (III). The human MnSOD, CuZnSOD, catalase, and rat GPx cDNAs were kindly provided by Dr. Y.-S. Ho, Wayne State University, Detroit, MI, USA.

5. Western blotting analysis (I,V)

The cells were detached, centrifuged, and washed with PBS. The cell pellet was mixed with the electrophoresis sample buffer and boiled for 5 min at 95°C. 50 or 75 μ g of cell protein was applied per lane to a 10-12% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) -polyacrylamide gel (Laemmli 1970). The gel was electrophoresed for 1.5

h (90 V) (V) or 3.5 h (40 mA) at room temperature, the protein was transferred (45 min, 100 V or 3 h, 400 mA) onto Hybond ECL nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham, Arlington Hights, IL, USA) in a Mini-PROTEAN II Cell (Bio Rad Laboratories). The blotted membrane was incubated with rabbit antibody to recombinant human MnSOD (1:10 000) (gift from Professor J.D. Crapo, National Jewish Medical and Research Center, Denver, CO, USA), followed by donkey anti-rabbit secondary antibody (V) or goat anti-rabbit immunoglobulin G (1:30 000) conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (Amersham). MnSOD was detected by an enhanced chemiluminescence system (ECL, Amersham), and the luminol excitation was imaged on X-ray film (Eastman Kodak). Cell protein was determined by Bio-Rad DC assay (Bio-Rad Laboratories).

6. Immunohistochemistry (IV)

Immunolocalization of catalase was performed on sections of cell pellets from freshly isolated and cultured macrophages. Cell pellets from four healthy volunteers (two samples cultured, the other two freshly isolated) were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde plus 0.2% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). After 1 h, they were transferred to 2% paraformaldehyde without glutaraldehyde for an additional 24 h. Thereafter, the cells were washed three times with PBS and incubated in 10% gelatin at 37°C for 10 min. Blocks were cryoprecipitated with 2.3 M sucrose and frozen in liquid nitrogen. Cryoultrathin sections were prepared with a cryomicrotome, and immunolabeling was done by the method of Slot et al. (1986). Cells from each pellet were photographed, and the number of gold particles on peroxisomes, cytoplasm, and nucleus counted. The area occupied by these compartments was measured by point counting.

7. H₂O₂ consumption (II, IV)

 H_2O_2 consumption by untreated and pretreated intact cells was analyzed fluorometrically by following H_2O_2 -dependent oxidation of 4-hydroxy-3methoxyphenylacetic acid (homovanillic acid, HVA, Sigma) in the presence of horseradish peroxidase (HRP, Sigma) by the modified method (Kinnula et al. 1992d) of Ruch et al. (1983). Incubations were conducted at 37°C in PBS. H_2O_2 (50 to 500µM) was added to the medium, and H_2O_2 consumption was analyzed on the basis of samples drawn during a 40-min incubation. The exact H_2O_2 concentration was determined spectrophotometrically using the molar extinction coefficient of 44 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹ at 240 nm.

8. Measurement of ROS production (I)

Reactive oxygen species were assessed by chemiluminescence, with an automated microcomputer-controlled luminometer. Untreated and cytokine-treated cells after the 48-h incubation were used. The reaction mixture at 37°C in 1 ml contained $0.5-1x10^6$ trypsinized and washed cells in PBS, 700 µl 10^{-4} M luminol (5-amino-2,3-dihydro-1,4-phtalazinedione, LKB, Wallac), and in some experiments 5-500 µM menadione. Chemiluminescence was measured for 30 min in the presence and absence of cytokines from both untreated and cytokine-pretreated cells.

9. Measurement of cell injury

9.1. Trypan blue exclusion (V)

The cell suspension was incubated with trypan blue in PBS for 5 min at room temperature. The cells were counted in a Bürker cell-counting chamber, and trypan blue-negative cells were considered as viable cells.

9.2. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release (I-III)

Lactate dehydrogenase release into the medium from cells cultured on 4- or 24well tissue culture plates was measured spectophotometrically, with pyruvic acid (Sigma) as the substrate (Bergmeyer 1974). Total LDH was measured in cell lysates obtained by treatment with 1% Triton X-100. The results are expressed as percent of activity released into the medium.

9.3. Adenine nucleotide depletion (I-V)

For cytotoxicity experiments, in which cell injury was assessed by adenine nucleotide depletion, cells cultured in 4- or 24-well tissue-culture plates were preincubated with 0.1 mM ¹⁴C-adenine (specific activity 51 to 55 mCi/mmol (I-IV) or 284-287 mCi/mmol (V); Amersham International) for 6 h (V), overnight (I, III, IV), or for 48 h (II). After incubation, the labeled medium was removed, and the cells were washed and exposed to H_2O_2 , menadione, or FMLP in serum-free RPMI-1640 medium as described previously. Experiments were terminated by removing and freezing the medium at -20°C and extracting the cells with 0.42 N ice-cold perchloric acid. Purine nucleotides (ATP, ADP, and AMP) in neutralized cell extracts, as well as total nucleotides and nucleotide catabolic products (hypoxanthine, xanthine, and uric acid) in the medium were separated

by thin-layer chromatography (Aalto and Raivio 1990). The separated purine compounds were visualized on the chromatography sheets under ultraviolet light, cut out, and counted in Optiphase "High Safe"3 (LKB Scintillation Products, FSA Laboratory Supplies, Loughborough, UK) by means of an LKB Wallac Rackbeta 1209 liquid scintillation counter. Results are expressed as percent distribution of radioactivity among nucleotides retained in the cell, nucleotides in the medium, and their catabolic products.

10. Statistical methods

All experiments were performed at least in duplicate. Data analyses were performed with the Stat View or SPSS for Windows software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Two groups were compared by either the two-tailed Student's t-test (I, III, IV) or nonparametric Mann-Whitney U-test (II, V), and multiple groups by analysis of variance (ANOVA) combined with Scheffé's post hoc test (I, III, IV) P values of < 0.05 were considered significant.

RESULTS

1. Superoxide dismutases

1.1. Bronchial epithelial BEAS-2B cells

Bronchial epithelial cells (BEAS-2B) were used to study the regulation of MnSOD and CuZnSOD by cytokines and hyperoxia in vitro. TNF- α (16, 24 and 48 h), a well-known inducer of MnSOD in a number of animal cell types (Wong and Goeddel 1988, Harris et al. 1991), caused a significant increase in MnSOD mRNA also in BEAS-2B cells (II; Figure 1). The mRNA levels increased until 24 h and then decreased, levels after 48 h still being higher than in untreated cells. MnSOD protein was elevated by TNF- α and IFN- γ + TNF- α , but not by IFN- γ alone (I; Figure 1). The specific activity of total SOD did not change significantly after IFN- γ , TNF- α , or IFN- γ + TNF- α treatments (I; Table 1). The activity of MnSOD was increased significantly by TNF- α (Table 1, I; Table1). In contrast to the induction of MnSOD protein, MnSOD activity was further increased by the combination of these cytokines (Table 1, I; Table 1).

Because preliminary hyperoxia experiments with BEAS-2B cells indicated significant cell injury after 72 h exposure to hyperoxia (II), hyperoxia exposures of 16 to 48 h were selected to investigate AOE regulation in BEAS-2B bronchial epithelial cells. The mRNA levels and specific activities of MnSOD and CuZnSOD remained unchanged after the hyperoxia exposure (Table 1, II; Figures 1 and 2, Table 1). In conclusion, in human bronchial epithelial cells, MnSOD was induced by TNF- α but not by high oxygen tension.

1.2. Mesothelial MET-5A cells

Mesothelial MET-5A cells were used to study the regulation of MnSOD by TNF- α and asbestos fibers. TNF- α and amosite + TNF- α caused a significant upregulation of MnSOD mRNA (III; Figure 1) and of specific activity (Table 1, III; Figure 2) when compared to controls. The mRNA of MnSOD was not significantly increased after amosite exposure, and the specific activity of MnSOD showed no change. Total SOD activity remained unchanged in each case (III; Figure 2). Thus in these experimental conditions, only TNF- α but not asbestos fibers induced MnSOD activity.

		CuZnSOD	MnSOD	Catalase	GPx	GR	G6PDH
BEAS-2B	unexposed	100 ± 36	100 ± 24	100 ± 18	100 ± 22	100 ± 12	100 ± 12
	95% O₂ 48h	81 ± 29	119 ± 38	121 ± 21	67 ± 26	109 ± 12	-
	IFN 10ng/ml	103 ± 7	124 ± 57	93 ± 11	149 ± 60	145 ± 11	135 ± 14
	TNF 10ng/ml	92 ± 22	273 ± 12	92 ± 5	102 ± 31	114 ± 4	132 ± 7
	IFN+TNF	86 ± 23	612 ± 297	75 ± 1	132 ± 22	113 ± 13	105 ± 31
MET-5A	unexposed	100 ± 46	100 ± 26	-	-	-	-
	TNF 10ng/ml	76 ± 16	379 ± 203	-	-	-	-
	AMOS 2mg/cm ²	87 ± 15	105 ± 32	-	-	-	-
	TNF+AMOS	92 ± 26	400 ± 103	-	-	-	-

Table 1: Antioxidant enzyme activities of control BEAS-2B cells and cells exposed to hyperoxia for 48 h, IFN- γ (10ng/ml), TNF- α (10ng/ml), or IFN- γ + TNF- α , and of control MET-5A cells and cells exposed to TNF- α (10ng/ml), AMOS (2 μ g/cm²), or TNF- α + AMOS. Results are means \pm SD from 3-6 separate experiments and expressed as % of the activity of control cells.

1.3. Inflammatory cells

When MnSOD and CuZnSOD mRNA and protein levels and/or activities were compared in freshly isolated neutrophils, monocytes, and alveolar macrophages, and these levels were compared to those of differentiated monocytes expressing features typical of macrophages, freshly isolated neutrophils had markedly higher levels of MnSOD mRNA than mononuclear cells; neither the specific activity nor protein, however, was higher (Table 2, V; Figure 1). The mRNA levels and specific activities of CuZnSOD were similar in all cells investigated (Table 2, V). SOD activities were not measured in alveolar macrophages, since the number of BALs performed was limited, but the amount of immunoreactive MnSOD protein was similar to that in freshly isolated monocytes (V; Figure 1). MnSOD mRNA, immunoreactive protein, and specific activity were upregulated in macrophages derived from monocytes upon in vitro culture (Table 2, V; Figure 1). Taken together, the levels of MnSOD varied in different inflammatory cells, whereas CuZnSOD appeared to be very similar in all cell types investigated.

1.4. Effect of cytokine-induced MnSOD on oxidant-related cytotoxicity

To investigate the protective role of MnSOD induction in cytokine-pretreated cells, the cells were pretreated with TNF- α (BEAS-2B and MET-5A), with IFN- γ , or with IFN- γ + TNF- α (BEAS-2B), with amosite asbestos fibers, or with a combination of TNF- α and amosite (MET-5A). These cytokines themselves were not toxic to the cells (I). Both untreated and cytokine-pretreated BEAS-2B cells were very resistant to hyperoxia (I). However, pretreatment of these cells with TNF- α or with TNF- α + INF- γ to cause MnSOD induction potentiated H₂O₂induced, menadione-induced (menadione, a compound which generates O_2^{-} intracellularly), and hyperoxia-induced cell injury, which was assessed by LDH release and adenine nucleotide depletion (I; Figures 2-5). This effect was most significant with the combination of IFN- γ and TNF- α . Amosite and amosite + TNF- α , but not TNF- α alone, caused significant injury in MET-5A cells, as assessed by LDH release (III; Figure 3); and TNF- α caused significant adenine nucleotide depletion (III; Figure 4). MET-5A cells, in which MnSOD was induced by TNF- α and the amosite + TNF- α combination, were more sensitive to menadione than were untreated cells (III; Figures 5 and 6).

2. H₂O₂ scavenging mechanisms

2.1. Bronchial epithelial BEAS-2B cells

When the most important H_2O_2 -scavenging antioxidant enzymes (catalase and GPx) were investigated in cells treated with cytokines or exposed to high oxygen tension, the activities of GPx, GR, and G6PDH underwent no change during cytokine treatments (IFN- γ , TNF- α , or IFN- γ + TNF- α for 48 h); if anything, the activity of catalase decreased after treatment of the BEAS-2B cells with IFN- γ + TNF- α for 48 h (Table 1, I; Table 1). The mRNA levels and specific activities of catalase, GPx, and GR remained unchanged after hyperoxia exposure when followed for up to 48 h (Table 1, II; Figures 3 and 4, Table 1). However, although total cellular glutathione content was significantly increased by hyperoxia (II; Figure 8), this did not explain the increased oxidant resistance observed during subsequent oxidant exposures in these cells, since depletion of glutathione by buthionine sulfoximine failed to exacerbate the cell injury (II). Moreover, H₂O₂ consumption by normoxic and by hyperoxic cells was similar (II; Figure 7). Thus, cytokines or hyperoxia in vitro induced none of the H₂O₂-scavenging enzymes.

2.2. Inflammatory cells

In comparative studies of different inflammatory cells, neutrophils were found to contain higher levels of mRNA and of specific activity of catalase than did monocytes, monocyte-derived macrophages, or alveolar macrophages (Table 2, IV, V; Figure 2). Catalase was primarily localized in microperoxisomes, but was also found in the cytoplasmic and nuclear matrices of alveolar macrophages (IV; Figure 1, Table 1). The mRNA level and specific activity of GPx (Table 2, V; Figure 3), as well as total glutathione (V; Figure 4), were lower in neutrophils than in monocytes.

		CuZnSOD	MnSOD	Catalase	GPx	GR
Inflammatory cells	Monocytes 0h	10.7 ± 4.1	3.2 ± 2.6	88.0 ± 15.6	3.0 ± 0.9	45.4 ± 7.6
	Monocytes 24h	8.0 ± 3.5	2.8 ± 1.7	85.6 ± 10.7	3.5 ± 1.2	36.5 ± 8.1
	Monocytes 72h	7.5 ± 2.8	6.2 ± 2.6	68.6 ± 26.7	3.6 ± 0.9	38.8 ± 16.8
	Neutrophils	7.1 ± 4.5	2.6 ± 1.8	368.3 ± 111.6	0.9 ± 0.9	27.0 ± 2.4
	Alveolar macrophages ¹	-	-	76.8 ± 9.2	7.5 ± 1.8	31.0 ± 7.4

Table 2: Antioxidant enzyme activities (U/mg protein, GPx, and GR mU/mg protein) of inflammatory cells. Results are means \pm SD from 3-9 separate experiments. ¹ Activities of alveolar macrophages are from a different study.

2.3. Importance of different AOE pathways in oxidant-related cytotoxicity of inflammatory cells

Cell viability studies showed that few, if any, neutrophils survived for 72 h, whereas monocytes were able to maintain high-energy nucleotides for at least 120 h (V; Figure 5). On the other hand, monocytes and monocyte-derived macrophages were more sensitive to exogenous H_2O_2 than were neutrophils, whereas the respiratory burst induced by FMLP caused significant cell injury in neutrophils, but not in monocytes or monocyte-derived macrophages (V; Figures 6 and 7). Pretreatment of cells with aminotriazole to cause catalase inactivation, or with BCNU to inhibit GR, indicated that alveolar macrophages consumed exogenous H_2O_2 mainly by the catalase-dependent pathway, whereas both the GSH redox cycle and catalase were important in the maintenance of cellular high-energy nucleotides (IV; Figures 3 and 5). In contrast to results of H_2O_2 -exposure, the GSH cycle was more important than catalase in maintaining cellular integrity of alveolar macrophages during the FMLP-induced respiratory burst (IV; Figures 2 and 4).

DISCUSSION

1. Methodological aspects

Information about the molecular regulation of AOEs is contradictory and is mostly based on animal models, and the situation in vivo is even more complicated than in vitro, since inflammation can modulate the cellular responses of various AOEs. Furthermore, since the regulation of AOEs is species- and age-dependent, results from animal studies cannot be extrapolated to humans (Frank 1991). Healthy human tissue is difficult to obtain. In addition, ethical requirements for studies on human cells and tissues limit the feasibility of these kinds of studies. On the other hand, human bronchial epithelial cells change even in primary culture, for instance cilia and surfactant disappear in vitro, and AOE levels decrease within the first days in culture (Kinnula et al. 1992a).

Instead of primary cells, we used transformed human bronchial epithelial (BEAS-2B) and mesothelial (MET-5A) cell lines, which are easy to maintain and are therefore suitable for induction and cytotoxicity studies in vitro. Transformed cells can be used in studies on enzyme regulation, since they express all major AOEs (Kinnula et al. 1994), although not at levels comparable to those of their non-transformed counterparts. In any case, when cell culture methods are used, the extrapolation of results to in vivo conditions must be made with caution. It is also noteworthy that cells are routinely cultured at 21% O_2 concentration, which is normoxia for the airway epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages, but not for mesothelial cells, monocytes, or neutrophils.

The isolation and purification procedures of monocytes and macrophages are based on their ability to adhere to glass or plastic. The advantage of separating monocytes and macrophages by adherence is that the procedure is quick and easy and does not require complicated equipment. However, because adherence is an activation event which can induce both gene expression and protein secretion (Sporn et al. 1990), the induction of MnSOD during monocyte differentiation in vitro may result from this adherence. In vitromatured macrophages were used in most experiments, since healthy human alveolar macrophages, for ethical reasons, are difficult to obtain. The levels of AOEs in freshly isolated cells are probably similar to their activities in vivo, since previous studies have shown that the activities of these enzymes remain stable during the first hours ex vivo (Kinnula et al. 1992a). Neutrophils may be activated during isolation. Another problem is large interindividual variation even when experimental conditions are exactly similar. However, the isolation and study of these cells are important in understanding their role in the pathogenesis of lung diseases.

The measurements of AOE activities have been well characterized. In our protocol, the activities of CuZnSOD and MnSOD were distinguished by use of cyanide to inhibit CuZnSOD. This method has limited sensitivity, so in some experiments the activity of MnSOD was undetectable. Catalase activity was assayed by use of an oxygen electrode, which in the presence of excess H_2O_2 measures increased O_2 production by catalase. Compared to this polarographic method, a spectrophotometric method for assay of catalase was insensitive in our laboratory.

Measurement of the depletion of radioactive-labeled adenine nucleotides is a sensitive method for monitoring cell injury. Other indicators of cell damage were also used, including trypan blue exclusion and LDH release. Both of the latter methods measure lytic cell membrane injury. Adenine nucleotide depletion is reversible and occurs much earlier than any cell membrane injury. However, since nucleotide levels can be assessed only in viable cells which have incorporated ¹⁴C-adenine, the values for adenine nucleotide depletion overestimate the energy state and the viability of the whole cell population. Adenine nucleotide depletion has been shown to correlate with cell AOE levels, whereas no such relationship exists with lytic cell injury (Aalto et al. 1996). For example, the exposure to asbestos fibers or the combination with TNF- α resulted in increased LDH release, which indicates irreversible cell membrane damage. On the other hand, adenine nucleotide depletion was observed only during simultaneous cytokine and amosite treatment, indicating that these two methods measure different phenomena that do not necessarily correlate with each other. The problem with the LDH-release assay is not only its relative insensitivity, but also the inactivation of this enzyme under severe oxidant stress, although this inactivation was not significant at the concentrations of LDH and H_2O_2 used in this study (data not shown).

2. Superoxide dismutases

2.1. CuZnSOD

The role of SOD in pulmonary defense against oxygen toxicity has, since the 1970's been extensively studied. Some of these studies have measured the activity of total SOD instead of CuZnSOD in particular. Animals exposed to sublethal hyperoxia show resistance to consequent exposure to 100% O_2 , and this resistance correlates with increased SOD activity (Crapo and Tierney 1974). Likewise, rats pre-exposed to hypoxia (10% O_2) become tolerant to lethal hyperoxia (Frank 1982), which is associated with increased pulmonary levels of total SOD, catalase, and GPx activities. On the other hand, increased resistance to hyperoxia has also been reported without induction of any AOEs (Baker et al. 1989), which agrees with our results with BEAS-2B cells, in which neither increases in AOE-specific activities nor in glutathione concentration were

necessary for the development of increased oxidant resistance. That CuZnSOD is not usually induced by cytokines (Wong and Goeddel 1988, Visner et al. 1990, Tsan et al. 1992) was shown also in the present study. Because antioxidant enzymes other than CuZnSOD are induced by hyperoxia or cytokines, the increased levels of CuZnSOD may not be responsible for the increased tolerance to oxygen toxicity.

2.2. MnSOD

Some, but not all studies with adult rats have shown that the mRNA and/or the specific activity of MnSOD is upregulated by hyperoxia in lung homogenates and alveolar type II pneumocytes (Freeman et al. 1986, Clerch and Massaro 1993, Ho et al. 1996). However, that immunoreactive protein, enzyme activity, and mRNA level do not necessarily correlate with each other (Jornot and Junod 1992, Clerch and Massaro 1993, Ho et al. 1996) indicates the complexity of the regulatory mechanisms of this and other enzymes and may explain some of the discrepancies found. In experimental animal models, MnSOD mRNA and/or protein are shown to be induced by various cytokines (Tsan 1997), most importantly by TNF- α (Wong and Goeddel 1988). After exposure of rats to hyperoxia the induction of MnSOD in the lungs is maximal at days 3 to 5 (Ho et al. 1996), which is also the time required for the recruitment of activated inflammatory cells into the lungs (Barry and Crapo 1985). Because MnSOD, but not the other AOEs, is upregulated by many cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, IFN- γ) (Wong and Goeddel 1988, Visner et al. 1990, Kinnula et al. 1995), the in vivo data on hyperoxia can at least in part be explained by inflammation, nuclear factor-kB activation, and a subsequent increase in MnSOD transcription (Das et al. 1995). In the present study, with cultured cells, MnSOD mRNA was upregulated after 16 to 24 h of TNF-a treatment. In contrast to studies conducted on human fibroblasts and malignant cell lines (Harris et al. 1991), our results showed no elevation in activity of MnSOD by IFN- γ , whereas the level of activity was significantly elevated by TNF- α , and further elevated by the combination of IFN- γ + TNF- α . No induction was observed in cells cultured in a hyperoxic atmosphere. These results with BEAS-2B cells support the theory that in human airway epithelial cells in vivo, inflammatory cytokines, but not oxygen, are responsible for the regulation of MnSOD.

According to previous studies, asbestos fibers cause MnSOD mRNA upregulation, increased immunocytochemical labeling, and increased specific activity of this enzyme in isolated lung cells and in the intact lung upon inhalation (Mossman et al. 1986, Holley et al. 1992). One recent study also showed a dosedependent increase in the steady-state mRNA levels of MnSOD in cells exposed to crocidolite asbestos fibers (Janssen et al. 1994b). The specific activity of this enzyme was not investigated in that study, but by Western blot analysis the enzyme protein was not significantly elevated. Two alternative mechanisms of MnSOD upregulation by fibers have been considered: a direct fiber reaction or a cytokine-mediated effect due to the proinflammatory properties of the fibers (Kamp et al. 1992). The effect of asbestos fibers on MnSOD induction in vivo and in vitro is not necessarily similar, because inflammation may modulate cellular antioxidant response in vivo. In the present study, amosite had no effect on MnSOD-specific activity in MET-5A cells, but because the fibers showed a tendency for MnSOD mRNA upregulation, our results do not exclude the possibility of MnSOD induction during prolonged asbestos exposure. On the other hand, TNF- α and TNF- α + amosite caused a significant upregulation of MnSOD mRNA and specific activity in MET-5A cells when compared to that in unexposed cells. These data suggest that the MnSOD induction by inhaled fibers observed in experimental asbestos models may be due to the proinflammatory potential of the fibers rather than to a direct effect on the target cell.

Although inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α are important in the upregulation of MnSOD, the significance of MnSOD induction on oxidant resistance is unclear. MnSOD induction by cytokines has been shown to confer resistance to exogenous oxidants in some (Warner et al. 1991, Tsan 1997), but not in all investigations (Marcho et al. 1991). Because hyperoxia results in ROS generation in the mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum (Freeman et al. 1982), increased MnSOD activity can be expected to protect cells against hyperoxia. In fact, TNF- α and endotoxin have been shown to prolong the survival of experimental animals during hyperoxia exposure (Clerch and Massaro 1993, Tsan 1997), and transgenic and knock-out mice have shown that MnSOD expression contributes to oxygen tolerance (Wispe et al. 1992, Tsan et al. 1998). However, resistance against hyperoxia is not necessarily associated with AOE induction (Baker et al. 1989), a fact which agrees with our findings showing no MnSOD upregulation in hyperoxia-exposed bronchial epithelial cells, despite increased resistance to subsequent oxidant exposure. In addition, cytokine-induced MnSOD offered no protection against endogenously or exogenously generated oxidants. In contrast, increased sensitivity was observed both in BEAS-2B and in MET-5A cells pretreated with cytokines. This finding is in line with the study of Marcho and associates, which has shown enhanced sensitivity to oxidative stress in cells containing high MnSOD activity (Marcho et al. 1991), but it contradicts the finding that elevated MnSOD mRNA expression and activity increase resistance to paraquat toxicity in human pulmonary adenocarcinoma cells (Warner et al. 1991). These contradictory data may be due to differences between transformed and malignant human cell populations, to cell-specific effects of the cytokines, or to the cytokine concentrations used. The protective effect of SOD may also be related to SOD-level, since the ability of small doses of SOD to protect the ischemically injured, reperfused rabbit heart is reversed at higher doses (Nelson et al. 1994). A possible explanation may also be the overproduction of H_2O_2 and subsequent enhanced lipid peroxidation due to an imbalance in cellular

antioxidant mechanisms. In BEAS-2B and MET-5A cells, the effect of TNF- α may in fact contribute to the induction of other mechanisms, for instance those related to cell death (apoptosis). The balance of these reactions is complicated and largely beyond the scope of the present study.

MnSOD may contribute to the protection of macrophages during inflammation. Studies have investigated superoxide dismutases during in vitro differentiation of monocytes and leukemia HL60 cells, but have not systematically compared AOE activities in various inflammatory cell types or investigated their significance. Our results are in agreement with data showing induction of MnSOD during the differentiation of monocytes (Nakagawara et al. 1981, Asayama et al. 1985), but are in contrast with data on human leukemia HL-60 cells, in which MnSOD mRNA remains unchanged and its activity decreases during differentiation into granulocytes or macrophages (Speier and Newburger 1986, Kizaki et al. 1993). Our data on mRNA levels suggest, as the mechanism of increased activity, transcriptional activation of MnSOD. However, previous and present findings on the induction of MnSOD during monocyte differentiation in vitro cannot be extrapolated to the situation in vivo, since these changes may occur due to cell adherence (Sporn et al. 1990). Whether the induction related to differentiation has relevance to the protection of macrophages in vivo remains unclear.

In a number of inflammatory cell types, MnSOD is induced in inflammatory cells by cytokines (Niwa et al. 1996, Tian et al. 1998). This induction of MnSOD may thus play an important role in the resistance of inflammatory cells during inflammation and oxidant stress. Based on one recent study, MnSOD is induced in granulomatous diseases such as sarcoidosis, especially in alveolar macrophages and granulomas (Lakari et al. 1998), but the significance of this induction remains unclear. A previous study showed no induction of MnSOD by TNF- α in human neutrophils (Kettritz et al. 1997), whereas another study showed elevation of MnSOD immunoreactive protein in human neutrophils treated with conditioned medium of human bronchial epithelial cells (Cox et al. 1994). The higher levels of mRNA, but not the activity of MnSOD in neutrophils, may be associated with activation of these cells during cell isolation. Discrepancies between the mRNA levels and activities may be related to differences in mRNA stability or translational efficiency of various cells (Clerch and Massaro 1992, Dirami et al. 1999). Whether MnSOD is induced in pathological conditions and contributes to the survival of these cells during inflammation or infection remains to be investigated.

3. H₂O₂ scavenging mechanisms

3.1. Catalase

In addition to MnSOD, catalase may also play an important role in protecting the bronchial epithelium against oxidants. Although the regulation of SODs by hyperoxia varies, the regulation of H_2O_2 -scavenging enzymes is even more contradictory. The changes in catalase have been marginal or insignificant (Rister and Baehner 1976, Ho et al. 1996). The only in vivo study available on humans showed no change in catalase levels after 16 h hyperoxia exposure (Erzurum et al. 1993), which is consistent with the present study, in which catalase was not induced by hyperoxia in BEAS-2B cells. In contrast to cell culture studies in which only MnSOD is induced after cytokine exposure (Wong and Goeddel 1988), the pulmonary activity of catalase in rats treated with cytokines, endotoxin, and/or with hyperoxia has also been found to be induced (Tsan et al. 1990a, Tsan et al. 1991, Clerch and Massaro 1993). In addition, the activity of catalase has been shown to be elevated in macrophages of human smokers and in hamster alveolar macrophages exposed to cigarette smoke (McCusker and Hoidal 1990). In the present study, treatment with the combination of TNF- α + IFN- γ caused a significant decrease in catalase activity. The observations that human bronchial epithelial cells have relatively low MnSOD and catalase levels and activities with no induction by hyperoxia (Erzurum et al. 1993, Kinnula et al. 1994, Yoo et al. 1994) suggest that these characteristics may contribute to the vulnerability of bronchial epithelial cells to toxic environmental effects.

Although cytokine treatment increases MnSOD activity, it may also change the sensitivity of the cells to exogenous oxidants. Because superoxide is rapidly converted to H₂O₂ nonenzymatically or by SODs in intact cells, increased MnSOD activity may therefore lead to overproduction of H₂O₂ and to H₂O₂related injury. Our results are in agreement with findings on endothelial cells in which TNF- α increases cell susceptibility to H₂O₂ and decreases glutathione concentrations (Marcho et al. 1991). This can be explained by an imbalance between various AOEs. The importance of antioxidant balance is further supported by findings in which the hypersensitivity to oxidants of human CuZnSOD-transfected cells is compensated for by co-transfection with the H₂O₂scavenging enzymes catalase or GPx (Amstad et al. 1991, Amstad et al. 1994). Furthermore, the tolerance to hyperoxia of transgenic mice overexpressing CuZnSOD is associated with a concomitant increase in GPx activity, and the endotoxin-induced tolerance to oxygen with increased activities of catalase and GPx (Clerch and Massaro 1993). In our experiments, both IFN- γ and TNF- α enhanced cytotoxicity of H_2O_2 , which may be a result of decreased catalase activity. On the other hand, this explanation is questionable, because catalase was

reduced only in cells pretreated with the combination of TNF- α and INF- γ . A more likely possibility, therefore, is high MnSOD activity without a corresponding or with only a minimal change in H₂O₂-scavenging systems, leading to an imbalance in antioxidant capacity.

Catalase may play a prominent role in protection of inflammatory cells, especially against severe oxidant stress. Previous studies have shown that freshly isolated rat alveolar type II pneumocytes, which are highly resistant to exogenous oxidants, contain high catalase activity (Kinnula et al. 1992a), whereas more sensitive cells, bovine endothelial and rat mesothelial cells, have low catalase protein and activity (Kinnula et al. 1992b, Kinnula et al. 1992c). Human alveolar macrophages contain relatively high catalase activity (McDonald et al. 1991). The present study revealed that neutrophils contain the highest catalase activity of all phagocytes, and are more resistant to exogenous H₂O₂ than are mononuclear cells. This high activity may play a profound role in proper phagocytosis during the respiratory burst and the oxidant stress of activated neutrophils. The importance of catalase is further supported by the differences in the K_m of catalase and GPx for H₂O₂, since the K_m for catalase is markedly higher than the K_m for GPx (Jones et al. 1981), which suggests that catalase scavenges H₂O₂ efficiently at high concentrations. In fact, the present and previous studies have shown that alveolar macrophages consume exogenous H₂O₂ mainly by the catalase-dependent pathway (McDonald et al. 1991). Although it is also possible that mechanisms other than catalase may explain oxidant resistance of neutrophils, the role of catalase is probably the most important.

Our results show that catalase is responsible for scavenging high concentrations of H_2O_2 in alveolar macrophages. Although H_2O_2 is freely diffusible, the localization of catalase raises the question whether catalase can scavenge H₂O₂ of extracellular origin. Catalase is mainly localized in the peroxisomes of alveolar macrophages (Davies et al. 1979), but is also found in the cytosol of human neutrophils (Ballinger et al. 1994). We discovered that catalase is localized mainly in the microperoxisomes, with some labeling also in the cytoplasm and nuclei of alveolar macrophages. Whether the low concentration of cytoplasmic catalase plays a substantial role in H_2O_2 scavenging in human alveolar macrophages remains unclear. The catalase concentration in the peroxisomes was about 200 times as high as that of the nucleus and the cytoplasm. However, since the nucleus and the cytoplasm are much larger compartments, they may contain, in total, about as much catalase as do the peroxisomes. The fact that catalase-like activity scavenges exogenous H_2O_2 suggests also that there may be ATZ-inhibitable catalase-like activity in the cell membrane. In our study, no catalase protein could be detected in the cell membrane, but this negative finding does not mean that another form of ATZinhibitable catalase-like activity is not present on the cell membrane of these cells.

3.2. Glutathione redox cycle

Because the glutathione redox cycle is complementary to catalase in scavenging H_2O_2 , it may therefore be responsible for the protection of bronchial epithelium against oxidant stress. In the present study, neither hyperoxia exposure nor cytokine treatment had any effect on levels of GPx, GR or G6PDH. Thus, indicating that other mechanisms seem to be involved in the protection of these cells after prolonged oxygen exposure. Another potent antioxidative factor in human bronchial epithelial cells has been suggested to be glutathione with the enzymes regulating cellular glutathione levels (Cantin et al. 1987, Forman and Skelton 1990). Rat alveolar macrophages are protected against hyperoxia by γ glutamyl transpeptidase, an enzyme that participates in glutathione transport (Forman and Skelton 1990). That study showed that extracellular glutathione protects cells against hyperoxia, and that this protection can be blocked by an inhibitor of the transport enzyme, suggesting that the glutathione cycle is important during oxidant exposure. Furthermore, previous studies have shown increases in glutathione content, in cystine uptake, and in γ -glutamyl transpeptidase activity in other cell types exposed to hyperoxia (Deneke and Fanburg 1989, Knickelbein et al. 1996). In the present study, glutathione content increased after hyperoxia exposure, which is in line with these findings. However, the hypothesis that increased glutathione, and enzymes related to its synthesis, explains the increased oxidant resistance of hyperoxia-exposed cells was not supported by our findings in BEAS-2B cells, because glutathione depletion by BSO did not potentate the cell injury in hyperoxic cells. H_2O_2 consumption by normoxic and hyperoxic cells was also identical, which further suggests that mechanisms other than induction of AOEs or cellular glutathione explain the resistance observed under these experimental conditions. However, it has to be pointed out that glutathione may play a role in protection against menadione, because this quinone can conjugate with glutathione.

In conclusion, the present data show that neither increases in AOEspecific activities nor glutathione concentrations are necessary for the development of increased oxidant resistance in BEAS-2B cells. The resistance to oxidant stress and possibly also the resistance to hyperoxia may in part be determined by inducible defense mechanisms other than AOEs and glutathione, because the expression of several unidentified transcripts is known to be modulated after nonlethal oxidant exposure (Wiese et al. 1995).

Glutathione metabolism may play an important role both in cell viability and in protection against exogenous oxidants of inflammatory cells. This theory is supported by data showing that phagocytes derived from patients with a genetic deficiency in GSH synthetase or glutathione reductase are rapidly damaged during phagocytosis (Roos et al. 1979, Spielberg et al. 1979), or damaged when the reduction of oxidized glutathione is inhibited (Cohen et al. 1987). One previous study measuring the enzymes of the GSH cycle in neutrophils and monocytes showed very similar activities of GPx and GR in these cells (Voetman and Roos 1980). In contrast, the present study showed that the mRNA and specific activity of GPx, as well as glutathione levels, were lower in neutrophils than in monocytes. The present study also showed that the deterioration of cellular high-energy nucleotides was most prominent in BSO-pretreated neutrophils, and that BCNU, which inhibits GR, was toxic only to neutrophils. On the other hand, glutathione depletion had no effect on the viability or energy state of oxidant-exposed inflammatory cells. Lower concentrations of GPx and GSH may contribute to the short life-span of neutrophils, since neutrophils lose their viability within 24 h ex vivo, and more rapidly if glutathione is depleted (Curi et al. 1998), as shown also in the present study.

The glutathione redox cycle may play a more important role in protecting cells against physiologically relevant oxidant stress than does catalase. GPx has a low K_m for H_2O_2 in comparison to catalase, which favors the predominant activity of GPx at low, physiologic H₂O₂ concentrations (Jones et al. 1981). Glutathione peroxidase is also distributed throughout the cytoplasm. Furthermore, the glutathione redox cycle is active not only in the disposal of H_2O_2 but also of the long-chain hydroperoxides and lipid peroxides which may play an important role in membrane-related cell cytotoxicity (Andreoli et al. 1992). Exogenous oxidants cause ATP depletion within minutes of exposure, whereas irreversible cell damage is apparent only after many hours (Spragg et al. 1985). Extracellular release of nucleotides reflects not only minimal cell injury but also damage to the cell membrane. In the present study, human alveolar macrophages were protected both by catalase and the glutathione redox cycle against exogenous H_2O_2 . Relatively low (100 μ M) H_2O_2 concentrations were used, but because H_2O_2 is freely diffusible, even this concentration may result in higher intracellular H₂O₂ levels than those achieved during the transient respiratory burst by FMLP. Nucleotide leakage into the extracellular space was always highest in BCNU-pretreated cells. These results support the fact of the primary importance of the glutathione cycle in the maintenance of the highenergy nucleotide pool and of cell membrane integrity in vivo in human alveolar macrophages.

CONCLUSIONS

The present study explored the regulation and role of different AOEs during oxidative stress in human lung cells. Based on the results presented in this thesis, the main conclusions are:

- 1) MnSOD is induced by TNF- α , but cytokine-induced MnSOD does not protect bronchial epithelial cells against endogenously or exogenously generated oxidants. In contrast, the cells with the highest MnSOD activity are those most sensitive to subsequent oxidant damage. The balance between various antioxidant enzymes, rather than the induction of one enzyme, is important for protecting cells during oxidant exposure.
- 2) AOEs are not directly upregulated by high oxygen tension. Increases in the specific activities of AOEs and glutathione concentration are not necessary for the development of increased oxidant resistance in human bronchial epithelial cells.
- 3) MnSOD is not induced by asbestos fibers alone in human mesothelial cells. Asbestos fibers and TNF treatments render these cells more vulnerable to oxidant-induced cell damage despite elevated MnSOD activity.
- 4) Human alveolar macrophages scavenge exogenous H_2O_2 mainly by a catalasedependent pathway, whereas the glutathione redox cycle is responsible for the maintenance of cellular integrity during the respiratory burst.
- 5) Human inflammatory cells exhibit different antioxidant profiles. Monocytes have higher levels of glutathione and of enzymes of the GSH cycle, whereas in monocytes catalase activity is significantly lower than it is in neutrophils. The high catalase activity of neutrophils may explain their high resistance against exogenous H_2O_2 , whereas low glutathione content and GSH-related enzymes may account for the poor survival of human neutrophils.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the research laboratory of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki, Finland, during the years 1994 to 1999. I wish to express my sincere gratitude to the heads of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents and the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki, Professor Jaakko Perheentupa, Docent Krister Holmberg, and Professor Martti Siimes, for providing excellent facilities and a supportive research atmosphere for research.

I am most grateful to my two supervisors, Professor Vuokko Kinnula, for introducing me to the world of science, and for her unselfish help and guidance through the years, and Professor Kari Raivio, for teaching me scientific reasoning and for the support and encouragement throughout the study.

Docents Matti Nuutinen and Heikki Repo are gratefully acknowledged for their valuable criticism of the manuscript of this thesis. I also wish to thank Heikki Repo and Professor Matti Klockars for being members of my thesis follow-up committee.

I wish to thank Carol Norris for revising the language of the thesis.

I wish to acknowledge my collaborators, Dr. Y.-S. Ho, the people in the research groups of Professor James D. Crapo, Docent Kaija Linnainmaa, and Vuokko Kinnula, especially Essi Lakari, for pleasant cooperation and valuable help during these years.

I am deeply indebted to Sari Lindén and Ritva Löfman for teaching me the basics of laboratory practice, as well as their expert technical assistance during the study. I also owe special thanks to Sinikka Latunen. I wish to thank the head, Professor Erkki Savilahti, and the personnel of the research laboratory for aid and a warm atmosphere for this work.

I wish to address special thanks to all members of our "Radical" research group. Our senior colleagues Kristiina Aalto and Risto Lapatto deserve thanks for valuable help and advice. The friendship of my fellow workers Terhi Ahola, Henrikka Aito, Tiina Asikainen, Anna-Liisa Levonen, Nina Linder, Eeva Martelin, and Mika Saksela are warmly acknowledged. I also wish to thank the other colleagues of mine at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents. The friendly atmosphere in the lab filled with humor has been important to help me through the sometimes hard and frustrating times.

I owe big hugs to all my friends. I am grateful to them for sharing enjoyment and for keeping me touch with life outside the medical and scientific field.

To my parents Maire and Uoti Pietarinen I express my deepest gratitude for their love, support, and encouragement during all of my life. I also owe warm thanks to my parentsin-law, Anja and Pentti Runtti.

Finally, my loving thanks are due to my husband Kimmo for his unfailing love and support, and our wonderful children Juho and his brand-new brother, who have brought so much fun and love to our life. They all keep me remined what is really important in this life.

This study was financially supported by the M.D./Ph.D. program of the University of Helsinki and also by grants from The Finnish Medical Society Duodecim, The Finnish Anti-Tuberculosis Association Foundation, and The Finnish Lung Health Association.

REFERENCES

Aalto K, Raivio K O, Pietarinen P, and Kinnula V L: Intracellular high energy metabolite depletion and cell membrane injury with antioxidant enzymes during oxidant exposure in vitro. Toxicol. Lett. 85: 93-99, 1996

Aalto T K, and Raivio K O: Adenine nucleotide depletion from endothelial cells exposed to xanthine oxidase. Am. J. Physiol. 259: C883-C888, 1990

Aerts C, Wallaert B, and Voisin C: In vitro effects of hyperoxia on alveolar type II pneumocytes: inhibition of glutathione synthesis increases hyperoxic cell injury. Exp. Lung Res. 18: 845-861, 1992

Akerboom T P, and Sies H: Assay of glutathione, glutathione disulfide, and glutathione mixed disulfides in biological samples. Methods Enzymol. 77: 373-382, 1981

Amstad P, Moret R, and Cerutti P: Glutathione peroxidase compensates for the hypersensitivity of Cu,Zn- superoxide dismutase overproducers to oxidant stress. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 1606-1609, 1994

Amstad P, Peskin A, Shah G, Mirault M E, Moret R, Zbinden I, and Cerutti P: The balance between Cu,Zn-superoxide dismutase and catalase affects the sensitivity of mouse epidermal cells to oxidative stress. Biochemistry 30: 9305-9313, 1991

Andreoli S P, Mallett C, McAteer J A, and Williams L V: Antioxidant defense mechanisms of endothelial cells and renal tubular epithelial cells in vitro: role of the glutathione redox cycle and catalase. Pediatr. Res. 32: 360-365, 1992

Aruoma O I, Halliwell B, Hoey B M, and Butler J: The antioxidant action of N-acetylcysteine: its reaction with hydrogen peroxide, hydroxyl radical, superoxide, and hypochlorous acid. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 6: 593-597, 1989

Asayama K, Janco R L, and Burr I M: Selective induction of manganous superoxide dismutase in human monocytes. Am. J. Physiol. 249: C393-C397, 1985

Asikainen T M, Raivio K O, Saksela M, and Kinnula V L: Expression and developmental profile of antioxidant enzymes in human lung and liver. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 19: 942-949, 1998

Babior B M: The respiratory burst of phagocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 73: 599-601, 1984

Babson J R, and Reed D J: Inactivation of glutathione reductase by 2-chloroethyl nitrosoureaderived isocyanates. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 83: 754-762, 1978

Baker R R, Holm B A, Panus P C, and Matalon S: Development of O₂ tolerance in rabbits with no increase in antioxidant enzymes. J. Appl. Physiol. 66: 1679-1684, 1989

Ballinger C A, Mendis-Handagama C, Kalmar J R, Arnold R R, and Kinkade J M, Jr.: Changes in the localization of catalase during differentiation of neutrophilic granulocytes. Blood 83: 2654-2668, 1994

Barnes P J: Reactive oxygen species and airway inflammation. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 9: 235-243, 1990

Barry B E, and Crapo J D: Patterns of accumulation of platelets and neutrophils in rat lungs during exposure to 100% and 85% oxygen. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 132: 548-555, 1985

Beckman J S, Chen J, Ischiropoulos H, and Crow J P: Oxidative chemistry of peroxynitrite. Methods Enzymol. 233: 229-240, 1994

Behne D, Scheid S, Kyriakopoulos A, and Hilmert H: Subcellular distribution of selenoproteins in the liver of the rat. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1033: 219-225, 1990

Bergmeyer H O: Lactate dehydrogenase assay with pyruvate and NADH. Methods in Enzymatic Analysis, Academic Press, 574-579, 1974

Bernard G R, Wheeler A P, Arons M M, Morris P E, Paz H L, Russell J A, and Wright P E: A trial of antioxidants N-acetylcysteine and procysteine in ARDS. The Antioxidant in ARDS Study Group. Chest 112: 164-172, 1997

Beutler E: Glutathione peroxidase. Red Cell Metabolism: A Manual of Biochemical Methods, Grune & Stratton, 71-73, 1975

Borzi R M, Grigolo B, Meliconi R, Fasano L, Sturani C, Fabbri M, Porstmann T, and Facchini A: Elevated serum superoxide dismutase levels correlate with disease severity and neutrophil degranulation in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Clin. Sci. 85: 353-359, 1993

Brown L A, Perez J A, Harris F L, and Clark R H: Glutathione supplements protect preterm rabbits from oxidative lung injury. Am. J. Physiol. 270: L446-L451, 1996

Buckley B J, Kent R S, and Whorton A R: Regulation of endothelial cell prostaglandin synthesis by glutathione. J. Biol. Chem. 266: 16659-16666, 1991

Burdon R H: Control of cell proliferation by reactive oxygen species. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 24: 1028-1032, 1996

Böyum A: Isolation of mononuclear cells and granulocytes from human blood. Isolation of monuclear cells by one centrifugation, and of granulocytes by combining centrifugation and sedimentation at 1 g. Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. suppl. 97: 77-89, 1968

Cantin A M, North S L, Hubbard R C, and Crystal R G: Normal alveolar epithelial lining fluid contains high levels of glutathione. J. Appl. Physiol. 63: 152-157, 1987

Carlsson L M, Jonsson J, Edlund T, and Marklund S L: Mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase are more sensitive to hyperoxia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92: 6264-6268, 1995

Chabot F, Mitchell J A, Gutteridge J M, and Evans T W: Reactive oxygen species in acute lung injury. Eur. Respir. J. 11: 745-757, 1998

Chang L Y, Kang B H, Slot J W, Vincent R, and Crapo J D: Immunocytochemical localization of the sites of superoxide dismutase induction by hyperoxia in rat lungs. Lab. Invest. 73: 29-39, 1995

Chen Y, Whitney P L, and Frank L: Comparative responses of premature versus full-term newborn rats to prolonged hyperoxia. Pediatr. Res. 35: 233-237, 1994

Chomczynski P, and Sacchi N: Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. Anal. Biochem. 162: 156-159, 1987

Chu F F, Doroshow J H, and Esworthy R S: Expression, characterization, and tissue distribution of a new cellular selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase, GSHPx-GI. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 2571-2576, 1993

Church D F, and Pryor W A: Free-radical chemistry of cigarette smoke and its toxicological implications. Environ. Health Perpect. 64: 111-126, 1985

Church S L, Grant J W, Meese E U, and Trent J M: Sublocalization of the gene encoding manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD/SOD2) to 6q25 by fluorescence in situ hybridization and somatic cell hybrid mapping. Genomics 14: 823-825, 1992

Clerch L B, and Massaro D: Rat lung antioxidant enzymes: differences in perinatal gene expression and regulation. Am. J. Physiol. 263: L466-L470, 1992

Clerch L B, and Massaro D: Tolerance of rats to hyperoxia. Lung antioxidant enzyme gene expression. J. Clin. Invest. 91: 499-508, 1993

Clerch L B, Massaro D, and Berkovich A: Molecular mechanisms of antioxidant enzyme expression in lung during exposure to and recovery from hyperoxia. Am. J. Physiol. 274:L313-L319, 1998

Clerch L B, Wright A E, and Coalson J J: Lung manganese superoxide dismutase protein expression increases in the baboon model of bronchopulmonary dysplasia and is regulated at a posttranscriptional level. Pediatr. Res. 39: 253-258, 1996

Clyde B L, Chang L Y, Auten R L, Ho Y S, and Crapo J D: Distribution of manganese superoxide dismutase mRNA in normal and hyperoxic rat lung. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 8: 530-537, 1993

Cohen H J, Tape E H, Novak J, Chovaniec M E, Liegey P, and Whitin J C: The role of glutathione reductase in maintaining human granulocyte function and sensitivity to exogenous H_2O_2 . Blood 69: 493-500, 1987

Coursin D B, Cihla H P, Oberley T D, and Oberley L W: Immunolocalization of antioxidant enzymes and isozymes of glutathione S-transferase in normal rat lung. Am. J. Physiol. 263: L679-L691, 1992

Coursin D B, Cihla H P, Sempf J, Oberley T D, and Oberley L W: An immunohistochemical analysis of antioxidant and glutathione S-transferase enzyme levels in normal and neoplastic human lung. Histol. Histopathol. 11: 851-860, 1996

Cox G, Oberley L W, and Hunninghake G W: Manganese superoxide dismutase and heat shock protein 70 are not necessary for suppression of apoptosis in human peripheral blood neutrophils. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 10: 493-498, 1994

Crapo J D: Morphologic changes in pulmonary oxygen toxicity. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 48: 721-731, 1986

Crapo J D, Barry B E, Foscue H A, and Shelburne J: Structural and biochemical changes in rat lungs occurring during exposures to lethal and adaptive doses of oxygen. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 122: 123-143, 1980

Crapo J D, Oury T, Rabouille C, Slot J W, and Chang L Y: Copper-zinc superoxide dismutase is primarily a cytosolic protein in human cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89: 10405-10409, 1992

Crapo J D, and Tierney D F: Superoxide dismutase and pulmonary oxygen toxicity. Am. J. Physiol. 226: 1401-1407, 1974

Crystal R G: Oxidants and respiratory tract epithelial injury: pathogenesis and strategies for therapeutic intervention. Am. J. Med. 91: 39S-44S, 1991

Curi T C, De M M P, Palanch A C, Miyasaka C K, and Curi R: Percentage of phagocytosis, production of $O2^{-}$, H_2O_2 and NO, and antioxidant enzyme activities of rat neutrophils in culture. Cell Biochem. Funct. 16: 43-49, 1998

Danel C, Erzurum S C, Prayssac P, Eissa N T, Crystal R G, Herve P, Baudet B, Mazmanian M, and Lemarchand P: Gene therapy for oxidant injury-related diseases: adenovirus-mediated transfer of superoxide dismutase and catalase cDNAs protects against hyperoxia but not against ischemia-reperfusion lung injury. Hum. Gene Ther. 9: 1487-1496, 1998

Das K C, Lewis-Molock Y, and White C W: Thiol modulation of TNF alpha and IL-1 induced MnSOD gene expression and activation of NF-kappaB. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 148: 45-57, 1995

Davies K J: Protein damage and degradation by oxygen radicals. I. General aspects. J. Biol. Chem. 262: 9895-9901, 1987

Davies K J, and Delsignore M E: Protein damage and degradation by oxygen radicals. III. Modification of secondary and tertiary structure. J. Biol. Chem. 262: 9908-9913, 1987

Davies P, Drath D B, Engel E E, and Huber G L: The localization of catalase in the pulmonary alveolar macrophage. Lab. Invest. 40: 221-226, 1979

Davis J M, Rosenfeld W N, Richter S E, Parad R, Gewolb I H, Couser R, Price A, Kinsella J P, Donn S M, Gertsmann D, Ramanathan R, Raju T, Hudak M, Baumgart S, Carlo W, Davidson D, Mammel M C, Parton L, Salerno L, Huang W, and Barton N: The effects of multiple doses of recombinant human CuZn superoxide dismutase (rhSOD) in premature infants with respiratory distress syndrome (RDS). Pediatr. Res. 45: A1129, 1999

Davis J M, Rosenfeld W N, Richter S E, Parad R, Gewolb I H, Spitzer A R, Carlo W A, Couser R J, Price A, Flaster E, Kassem N, Edwards L, Tierney J, and Horowitz S: Safety and pharmacokinetics of multiple doses of recombinant human CuZn superoxide dismutase administered intratracheally to premature neonates with respiratory distress syndrome. Pediatrics 100: 24-30, 1997

Davis J M, Rosenfeld W N, Sanders R J, and Gonenne A: Prophylactic effects of recombinant human superoxide dismutase in neonatal lung injury. J. Appl. Physiol. 74: 2234-2241, 1993

Davis W B, Rennard S I, Bitterman P B, and Crystal R G: Pulmonary oxygen toxicity. Early reversible changes in human alveolar structures induced by hyperoxia. N. Engl. J. Med. 309: 878-883, 1983

De Raeve H R, Thunnissen F B, Kaneko F T, Guo F H, Lewis M, Kavuru M S, Secic M, Thomassen M J, and Erzurum S C: Decreased Cu,Zn-SOD activity in asthmatic airway epithelium: correction by inhaled corticosteroid in vivo. Am. J. Physiol. 272: L148-L154, 1997

Deneke S M, and Fanburg B L: Normobaric oxygen toxicity of the lung. N. Engl. J. Med. 303: 76-86, 1980

Deneke S M, and Fanburg B L: Regulation of cellular glutathione. Am. J. Physiol. 257: L163-L173, 1989

Deneke S M, Lynch B A, and Fanburg B L: Transient depletion of lung glutathione by diethylmaleate enhances oxygen toxicity. J. Appl. Physiol. 58: 571-574, 1985

Dirami G, Massaro D, and Clerch L B: Regulation of lung manganese superoxide dismutase: species variation in response to lipopolysaccharide. Am. J. Physiol. 276: L705-L708, 1999

DiSilvestro R A, Pacht E, Davis W B, Jarjour N, Joung H, and Trela-Fulop K: BAL fluid contains detectable superoxide dismutase 1 activity. Chest 113: 401-404, 1998

Dobashi K, Asayama K, Hayashibe H, Munim A, Kawaoi A, Morikawa M, and Nakazawa S: Immunohistochemical study of copper-zinc and manganese superoxide dismutases in the lungs of human fetuses and newborn infants: developmental profile and alterations in hyaline membrane disease and bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Virchows Arch. A. Pathol. Anat. 423: 177-184, 1993

Engstrom P C, Easterling L, Baker R R, and Matalon S: Mechanisms of extracellular hydrogen peroxide clearance by alveolar type II pneumocytes. J. Appl. Physiol. 69: 2078-2084, 1990

Epperly M W, Bray J A, Krager S, Berry L M, Gooding W, Engelhardt J F, Zwacka R, Travis E L, and Greenberger J S: Intratracheal injection of adenovirus containing the human MnSOD transgene protects athymic nude mice from irradiation-induced organizing alveolitis. Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 43: 169-181, 1999

Erzurum S C, Danel C, Gillissen A, Chu C S, Trapnell B C, and Crystal R G: In vivo antioxidant gene expression in human airway epithelium of normal individuals exposed to $100\% O_2$. J. Appl. Physiol. 75: 1256-1262, 1993

Folz R J, Abushamaa A M, and Suliman H B: Extracellular superoxide dismutase in the airways of transgenic mice reduces inflammation and attenuates lung toxicity following hyperoxia. J. Clin. Invest. 103: 1055-1066, 1999

Forman H J, and Skelton D C: Protection of alveolar macrophages from hyperoxia by gammaglutamyl transpeptidase. Am. J. Physiol. 259: L102-L107, 1990

Frank L: Developmental aspects of experimental pulmonary oxygen toxicity. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 11: 463-494, 1991

Frank L: Protection from O₂ toxicity by preexposure to hypoxia: lung antioxidant enzyme role. J. Appl. Physiol. 53: 475-482, 1982

Frank L, and Sosenko I R: Failure of premature rabbits to increase antioxidant enzymes during hyperoxic exposure: increased susceptibility to pulmonary oxygen toxicity compared with term rabbits. Pediatr. Res. 29: 292-296, 1991

Freeman B A, and Crapo J D: Biology of disease: free radicals and tissue injury. Lab. Invest. 47: 412-426, 1982

Freeman B A, and Crapo J D: Hyperoxia increases oxygen radical production in rat lungs and lung mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 256: 10986-10992, 1981

Freeman B A, Mason R J, Williams M C, and Crapo J D: Antioxidant enzyme activity in alveolar type II cells after exposure of rats to hyperoxia. Exp. Lung Res. 10: 203-222, 1986

Freeman B A, Topolosky M K, and Crapo J D: Hyperoxia increases oxygen radical production in rat lung homogenates. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 216: 477-484, 1982

Freeman B A, Turrens J F, Mirza Z, Crapo J D, and Young S L: Modulation of oxidant lung injury by using liposome-entrapped superoxide dismutase and catalase. Fed. Proc. 44: 2591-2595, 1985

Fridovich I: Superoxide dismutases. Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas Mol. Biol. 58: 61-97, 1986

Fridovich I: Superoxide radical: an endogenous toxicant. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 23: 239-257, 1983

Fridovich I, and Freeman B: Antioxidant defenses in the lung. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 48: 693-702, 1986

Gilks C B, Price K, Wright J L, and Churg A: Antioxidant gene expression in rat lung after exposure to cigarette smoke. Am. J. Pathol. 152: 269-278, 1998

Griffith O W, and Meister A: Potent and specific inhibition of glutathione synthesis by buthionine sulfoximine (S-n-butyl homocysteine sulfoximine). J. Biol. Chem. 254: 7558-7560, 1979

Hallewell R A, Masiarz F R, Najarian R C, Puma J P, Quiroga M R, Randolph A, Sanchez-Pescador R, Scandella C J, Smith B, Steimer K S, and Mullenbach G T: Human Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase cDNA: isolation of clones synthesising high levels of active or inactive enzyme from an expression library. Nucleic Acids Res. 13: 2017-2034, 1985

Halliwell B, and Gutteridge J M: The antioxidants of human extracellular fluids. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 280: 1-8, 1990

Halliwell B, and Gutteridge J M C: Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine. Claredon Press, Oxford 1989

Harlan J M, Levine J D, Callahan K S, Schwartz B R, and Harker L A: Glutathione redox cycle protects cultured endothelial cells against lysis by extracellularly generated hydrogen peroxide. J. Clin. Invest. 73: 706-713, 1984

Harris C A, Derbin K S, Hunte-McDonough B, Krauss M R, Chen K T, Smith D M, and Epstein L B: Manganese superoxide dismutase is induced by IFN-gamma in multiple cell types. Synergistic induction by IFN-gamma and tumor necrosis factor or IL-1. J. Immunol. 147: 149-154, 1991

Hassan H M: Biosynthesis and regulation of superoxide dismutases. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 5: 377-385, 1988

Heffner J E, and Repine J E: Pulmonary strategies of antioxidant defense. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 140: 531-554, 1989

Hilbert J, and Mohsenin V: Adaptation of lung antioxidants to cigarette smoking in humans. Chest 110: 916-920, 1996

Ho Y S, and Crapo J D: Isolation and characterization of complementary DNAs encoding human manganese-containing superoxide dismutase. FEBS Lett. 229: 256-260, 1988

Ho Y S, Dey M S, and Crapo J D: Antioxidant enzyme expression in rat lungs during hyperoxia. Am. J. Physiol. 270: L810-L818, 1996

Ho Y S, Howard A J, and Crapo J D: Nucleotide sequence of a rat glutathione peroxidase cDNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 16: 10, 1988

Ho Y S, Vincent R, Dey M S, Slot J W, and Crapo J D: Transgenic models for the study of lung antioxidant defense: enhanced manganese-containing superoxide dismutase activity gives partial protection to B6C3 hybrid mice exposed to hyperoxia. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 18: 538-547, 1998

Holley J A, Janssen Y M, Mossman B T, and Taatjes D J: Increased manganese superoxide dismutase protein in type II epithelial cells of rat lungs after inhalation of crocidolite asbestos or cristobalite silica. Am. J. Pathol. 141: 475-485, 1992

Housset B, Hurbain I, Masliah J, Laghsal A, Chaumette-Demaugre M T, Karam H, and Derenne J: Toxic effects of oxygen on cultured alveolar epithelial cells, lung fibroblasts and alveolar macrophages. Eur. Respir. J. 4: 1066-1075, 1991

Hyslop P A, Hinshaw D B, Halsey W A, Jr., Schraufstatter I U, Sauerheber R D, Spragg R G, Jackson J H, and Cochrane C G: Mechanisms of oxidant-mediated cell injury. The glycolytic and mitochondrial pathways of ADP phosphorylation are major intracellular targets inactivated by hydrogen peroxide. J. Biol. Chem. 263: 1665-1675, 1988

Jackson R M, Parish G, and Helton E S: Peroxynitrite modulates MnSOD gene expression in lung epithelial cells. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 25: 463-472, 1998

Jacobson J M, Michael J R, Jafri M H, Jr., and Gurtner G H: Antioxidants and antioxidant enzymes protect against pulmonary oxygen toxicity in the rabbit. J. Appl. Physiol. 68: 1252-1259, 1990

Jain A, Mehta T, Auld P A, Rodrigues J, Ward R F, Schwartz M K, and Martensson J: Glutathione metabolism in newborns: evidence for glutathione deficiency in plasma, bronchoalveolar lavage fluid, and lymphocytes in prematures. Pediatr. Pulmonol. 20: 160-166, 1995

Jamieson D, Chance B, Cadenas E, and Boveris A: The relation of free radical production to hyperoxia. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 48: 703-719, 1986

Janssen Y M, Marsh J P, Absher M P, Gabrielson E, Borm P J, Driscoll K, and Mossman B T: Oxidant stress responses in human pleural mesothelial cells exposed to asbestos. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 149: 795-802, 1994b Janssen Y M, Marsh J P, Driscoll K E, Borm P J, Oberdorster G, and Mossman B T: Increased expression of manganese-containing superoxide dismutase in rat lungs after inhalation of inflammatory and fibrogenic minerals. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 16: 315-322, 1994a

Jarjour N N, and Calhoun W J: Enhanced production of oxygen radicals in asthma. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 123: 131-136, 1994

Jones D P, Eklow L, Thor H, and Orrenius S: Metabolism of hydrogen peroxide in isolated hepatocytes: relative contributions of catalase and glutathione peroxidase in decomposition of endogenously generated H₂O₂. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 210: 505-516, 1981

Jones S A, V.B. O D, Wood J D, Broughton J P, Hughes E J, and Jones O T: Expression of phagocyte NADPH oxidase components in human endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. 271: H1626-H1634, 1996

Jornot L, and Junod A F: Response of human endothelial cell antioxidant enzymes to hyperoxia. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 6: 107-115, 1992

Joseph B Z, Routes J M, and Borish L: Activities of superoxide dismutases and NADPH oxidase in neutrophils obtained from asthmatic and normal donors. Inflammation 17: 361-370, 1993

Kamp D W, Graceffa P, Pryor W A, and Weitzman S A: The role of free radicals in asbestosinduced diseases. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 12: 293-315, 1992

Kapanci Y, Weibel E R, Kaplan H P, and Robinson F R: Pathogenesis and reversibility of the pulmonary lesions of oxygen toxicity in monkeys. II. Ultrastructural and morphometric studies. Lab. Invest. 20: 101-118, 1969

Ke Y, Reddel R R, Gerwin B I, Miyashita M, McMenamin M, Lechner J F, and Harris C C: Human bronchial epithelial cells with integrated SV40 virus T antigen genes retain the ability to undergo squamous differentiation. Differentiation 38: 60-66, 1988

Ke Y, Reddel R R, Gerwin B I, Reddel H K, Somers A N, McMenamin M G, LaVeck M A, Stahel R A, Lechner J F, and Harris C C: Establishment of a human in vitro mesothelial cell model system for investigating mechanisms of asbestos-induced mesothelioma. Am. J. Pathol. 134: 979-991, 1989

Kettritz R, Falk R J, Jennette J C, and Gaido M L: Neutrophil superoxide release is required for spontaneous and FMLP-mediated but not for TNF alpha-mediated apoptosis. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 8: 1091-1100, 1997

Kimball R E, Reddy K, Peirce T H, Schwartz L W, Mustafa M G, and Cross C E: Oxygen toxicity: augmentation of antioxidant defense mechanisms in rat lung. Am. J. Physiol. 230: 1425-1431, 1976

Kinnula V L, Chang L, Everitt J I, and Crapo J D: Oxidants and antioxidants in alveolar epithelial type II cells: in situ, freshly isolated, and cultured cells. Am. J. Physiol. 262: L69-L77, 1992a

Kinnula V L, Chang L Y, Ho Y S, and Crapo J D: Hydrogen peroxide release from alveolar macrophages and alveolar type II cells during adaptation to hyperoxia in vivo. Exp. Lung Res. 18: 655-673, 1992d

Kinnula V L, Crapo J D, and Raivio K O: Generation and disposal of reactive oxygen metabolites in the lung. Lab. Invest. 73: 3-19, 1995

Kinnula V L, Everitt J I, Mangum J B, Chang L Y, and Crapo J D: Antioxidant defense mechanisms in cultured pleural mesothelial cells. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 7: 95-103, 1992c

Kinnula V L, Everitt J I, Whorton A R, and Crapo J D: Hydrogen peroxide production by alveolar type II cells, alveolar macrophages, and endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. 261: L84-L91, 1991

Kinnula V L, Mirza Z, Crapo J D, and Whorton A R: Modulation of hydrogen peroxide release from vascular endothelial cells by oxygen. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 9: 603-609, 1993

Kinnula V L, Whorton A R, Chang L Y, and Crapo J D: Regulation of hydrogen peroxide generation in cultured endothelial cells. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 6: 175-182, 1992b

Kinnula V L, Yankaskas J R, Chang L, Virtanen I, Linnala A, Kang B H, and Crapo J D: Primary and immortalized (BEAS 2B) human bronchial epithelial cells have significant antioxidative capacity in vitro. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 11: 568-576, 1994

Kizaki M, Sakashita A, Karmakar A, Lin C W, and Koeffler H P: Regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase and other antioxidant genes in normal and leukemic hematopoietic cells and their relationship to cytotoxicity by tumor necrosis factor. Blood 82: 1142-1150, 1993

Klein J: Normobaric pulmonary oxygen toxicity. Anesth. Analg. 70: 195-207, 1990

Knickelbein R G, Ingbar D H, Seres T, Snow K, Johnston R B, Jr., Fayemi O, Gumkowski F, Jamieson J D, and Warshaw J B: Hyperoxia enhances expression of gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase and increases protein S-glutathiolation in rat lung. Am. J. Physiol. 270: L115-L122, 1996

Komada F, Nishiguchi K, Tanigawara Y, Wu X Y, Iwakawa S, and Okumura K: Effect of transfection with a superoxide dismutase expression plasmid on xanthine/xanthine oxidase-induced cytotoxicity in cultured rat lung cells. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 19: 1100-1102, 1996

Kondo T, Tagami S, Yoshioka A, Nishimura M, and Kawakami Y: Current smoking of elderly men reduces antioxidants in alveolar macrophages. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 149: 178-182, 1994

Kroemer G, Dallaporta B, and Resche-Rigon M: The mitochondrial death/life regulator in apoptosis and necrosis. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 60: 619-642, 1998

Laemmli U K: Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227: 680-685, 1970

Lakari E, Pääkkö P, and Kinnula V L: Manganese superoxide dismutase, but not CuZn superoxide dismutase, is highly expressed in the granulomas of pulmonary sarcoidosis and extrinsic allergic alveolitis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 158: 589-596, 1998

Lakari E, Pääkkö P, Pietarinen-Runtti P, and Kinnula V L: Manganese superoxide dismutase and catalase are coordinately expressed in the alveolar region in chronic interstitial pneumonias and granulomatous diseases of the lung. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. In press: 1999

Leff J A, Parsons P E, Day C E, Moore E E, Moore F A, Oppegard M A, and Repine J E: Increased serum catalase activity in septic patients with the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 146: 985-989, 1992

Leff J A, Parsons P E, Day C E, Taniguchi N, Jochum M, Fritz H, Moore F A, Moore E E, McCord J M, and Repine J E: Serum antioxidants as predictors of adult respiratory distress syndrome in patients with sepsis. Lancet 341: 777-780, 1993

Lewis-Molock Y, Suzuki K, Taniguchi N, Nguyen D H, Mason R J, and White C W: Lung manganese superoxide dismutase increases during cytokine-mediated protection against pulmonary oxygen toxicity in rats. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 10: 133-141, 1994

Li Y, Huang T T, Carlson E J, Melov S, Ursell P C, Olson J L, Noble L J, Yoshimura M P, Berger C, Chan P H, Wallace D C, and Epstein C J: Dilated cardiomyopathy and neonatal lethality in mutant mice lacking manganese superoxide dismutase. Nature Genet. 11: 376-381, 1995

Linder N, Rapola J, and Raivio K O: Cellular expression of xanthine oxidoreductase protein in normal human tissues. Lab. Invest. 79: 967-974, 1999

Loenders B, Van M E, Nicolai S, Buyssens N, Van O N, Jorens P G, Willems J, Herman A G, and Slegers H: Localization of extracellular superoxide dismutase in rat lung: neutrophils and macrophages as carriers of the enzyme. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 24: 1097-1106, 1998

Lowry O H, Rosenbrough N R, Farr A L, and Randall R J: Protein measurement with the folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. 193: 265-275, 1951

Löhr G W, and Waller H D: Assay of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase. Methods of Enzymatic Analysis, Academic Press, 636-641, 1974

Majori M, Vachier I, Godard P, Farce M, Bousquet J, and Chanez P: Superoxide anion production by monocytes of corticosteroid-treated asthmatic patients. Eur. Respir. J. 11: 133-138, 1998

Marcho Z, White J E, Higgins P J, and Tsan M F: Tumor necrosis factor enhances endothelial cell susceptibility to oxygen toxicity: role of glutathione. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 5: 556-562, 1991

Margoliash E, Novogrodsky A, and Schejter A: Irreversible reaction of 3-amino 1:2,4-triazole and related inhibitors with the protein of catalase. Biochem. J. 74: 339-348, 1960

Margraf L R, Tomashefski J F, Jr., Bruce M C, and Dahms B B: Morphometric analysis of the lung in bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 143: 391-400, 1991

Marklund S L: Extracellular superoxide dismutase in human tissues and human cell lines. J. Clin. Invest. 74: 1398-1403, 1984

Marklund S L: Human copper-containing superoxide dismutase of high molecular weight. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79: 7634-7638, 1982

Marks-Konczalik J, Gillissen A, Jaworska M, Loseke S, Voss B, Fisseler-Eckhoff A, Schmitz I, and Schultze-Werninghaus G: Induction of manganese superoxide dismutase gene expression in bronchoepithelial cells after rockwool exposure. Lung 176: 165-180, 1998

Masuda A, Longo D L, Kobayashi Y, Appella E, Oppenheim J J, and Matsushima K: Induction of mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase by interleukin 1. FASEB J. 2: 3087-3030, 1988

Mbemba F, Houbion A, Raes M, and Remacle J: Subcellular localization and modification with ageing of glutathione, glutathione peroxidase and glutathione reductase activities in human fibroblasts. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 838: 211-220, 1985

McCord J M: Oxygen-derived free radicals in postischemic tissue injury. N. Engl. J. Med. 312: 159-163, 1985

McCord J M, and Fridovich I: Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). J. Biol. Chem. 244: 6049-6055, 1969

McCusker K, and Hoidal J: Selective increase of antioxidant enzyme activity in the alveolar macrophages from cigarette smokers and smoke-exposed hamsters. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 141: 678-682, 1990

McDonald R J, Berger E M, and Repine J E: Alveolar macrophage antioxidants prevent hydrogen peroxide-mediated lung damage. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 143: 1088-1091, 1991

McElroy M C, Postle A D, and Kelly F J: Catalase, superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase activities of lung and liver during human development. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1117: 153-158, 1992

Meister A: Glutathione deficiency produced by inhibition of its synthesis, and its reversal; applications in research and therapy. Pharmacol. Ther. 51: 155-94, 1991

Meister A: On the antioxidant effects of ascorbic acid and glutathione. Biochem. Pharmacol. 44: 1905-1915, 1992

Metnitz P G, Bartens C, Fischer M, Fridrich P, Steltzer H, and Druml W: Antioxidant status in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Intensive Care Med. 25: 180-185, 1999

Mignotte B, and Vayssiere J L: Mitochondria and apoptosis. Eur. J. Biochem. 252: 1-15, 1998

Misso N L, Peroni D J, Watkins D N, Stewart G A, and Thompson P J: Glutathione peroxidase activity and mRNA expression in eosinophils and neutrophils of asthmatic and non-asthmatic subjects. J. Leukoc. Biol. 63: 124-130, 1998

Moncada S, and Higgs A: The L-arginine-nitric oxide pathway. N. Engl. J. Med. 329: 2002-2012, 1993

Morton R L, Das K C, Guo X L, Ikle D N, and White C W: Effect of oxygen on lung superoxide dismutase activities in premature baboons with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Am. J. Physiol. 276: L64-L74, 1999

Mossman B T, Marsh J P, Sesko A, Hill S, Shatos M A, Doherty J, Petruska J, Adler K B, Hemenway D, Mickey R, Vacek P, and Kagan E: Inhibition of lung injury, inflammation, and interstitial pulmonary fibrosis by polyethylene glycol-conjugated catalase in a rapid inhalation model of asbestosis. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 141: 1266-1271, 1990

Mossman B T, Marsh J P, and Shatos M A: Alteration of superoxide dismutase activity in tracheal epithelial cells by asbestos and inhibition of cytotoxicity by antioxidants. Lab. Invest. 54: 204-212, 1986

Nakagawara A, Nathan C F, and Cohn Z A: Hydrogen peroxide metabolism in human monocytes during differentiation in vitro. J. Clin. Invest. 68: 1243-1252, 1981

Nelson S K, Bose S K, and McCord J M: The toxicity of high-dose superoxide dismutase suggests that superoxide can both initiate and terminate lipid peroxidation in the reperfused heart. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 16: 195-200, 1994

Niwa Y, Ozaki Y, Kanoh T, Akamatsu H, and Kurisaka M: Role of cytokines, tyrosine kinase, and protein kinase C on production of superoxide and induction of scavenging enzymes in human leukocytes. Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol. 79: 303-313, 1996

Ohbayashi C, Kanomata N, Hanioka K, and Itoh H: Airway lesions and superoxide dismutase (SOD) distribution in bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD). Kobe J. Med. Sci. 43: 191-211, 1997

Oury T D, Chang L Y, Marklund S L, Day B J, and Crapo J D: Immunocytochemical localization of extracellular superoxide dismutase in human lung. Lab. Invest. 70: 889-898, 1994

Pacht E R, Timerman A P, Lykens M G, and Merola A J: Deficiency of alveolar fluid glutathione in patients with sepsis and the adult respiratory distress syndrome. Chest 100: 1397-1403, 1991

Padmanabhan R V, Gudapaty R, Liener I E, Schwartz B A, and Hoidal J R: Protection against pulmonary oxygen toxicity in rats by the intratracheal administration of liposome-encapsulated superoxide dismutase or catalase. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 132: 164-7, 1985

Panus P C, Matalon S, and Freeman B A: Responses of type II pneumocyte antioxidant enzymes to normoxic and hyperoxic culture. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. 25: 821-829, 1989

Pryor W A: Oxy-radicals and related species: their formation, lifetimes, and reactions. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 48: 657-667, 1986

Quan F, Korneluk R G, Tropak M B, and Gravel R A: Isolation and characterization of the human catalase gene. Nucleic Acids Res. 14: 5321-5335, 1986

Radi R, Turrens J F, Chang L Y, Bush K M, Crapo J D, and Freeman B A: Detection of catalase in rat heart mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 266: 22028-22034, 1991

Rahman I, Li X Y, Donaldson K, Harrison D J, and MacNee W: Glutathione homeostasis in alveolar epithelial cells in vitro and lung in vivo under oxidative stress. Am. J. Physiol. 269: L285-L292, 1995

Rahman I, and MacNee W: Role of oxidants/antioxidants in smoking-induced lung diseases. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 21: 669-681, 1996

Reddel R R, Ke Y, Gerwin B I, McMenamin M G, Lechner J F, Su R T, Brash D E, Park J B, Rhim J S, and Harris C C: Transformation of human bronchial epithelial cells by infection with SV40 or adenovirus-12 SV40 hybrid virus, or transfection via strontium phosphate

coprecipitation with a plasmid containing SV40 early region genes. Cancer Res. 48: 1904-1909, 1988

Rister M, and Baehner R L: The alteration of superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase, and NAD(P)H cytochrome c reductase in guinea pig polymorphonuclear leukocytes and alveolar macrophages during hyperoxia. J. Clin. Invest. 58: 1174-1184, 1976

Roos D, Weening R S, Voetman A A, van S M L, Bot A A, Meerhof L J, and Loos J A: Protection of phagocytic leukocytes by endogenous glutathione: studies in a family with glutathione reductase deficiency. Blood 53: 851-866, 1979

Rossi F: The O_2^- -forming NADPH oxidase of the phagocytes: nature, mechanisms of activation and function. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 853: 65-89, 1986

Ruch W, Cooper P H, and Baggiolini M: Assay of H_2O_2 production by macrophages and neutrophils with homovanillic acid and horse-radish peroxidase. J. Immunol. Methods 63: 347-357, 1983

Sandstrom J, Karlsson K, Edlund T, and Marklund S L: Heparin-affinity patterns and composition of extracellular superoxide dismutase in human plasma and tissues. Biochem. J. 294: 853-857, 1993

Saugstad O D: Chronic lung disease: the role of oxidative stress. Biol. Neonate 74 suppl 1: 21-28, 1998

Schraufstatter I U, Hinshaw D B, Hyslop P A, Spragg R G, and Cochrane C G: Oxidant injury of cells. DNA strand-breaks activate polyadenosine diphosphate-ribose polymerase and lead to depletion of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide. J. Clin. Invest. 77: 1312-1320, 1986

Schuckelt R, Brigelius-Flohe R, Maiorino M, Roveri A, Reumkens J, Strassburger W, Ursini F, Wolf B, and Flohe L: Phospholipid hydroperoxide glutathione peroxidase is a selenoenzyme distinct from the classical glutathione peroxidase as evident from cDNA and amino acid sequencing. Free Radic. Res. Commun. 14: 343-361, 1991

Sen C K, and Packer L: Antioxidant and redox regulation of gene transcription. FASEB J. 10: 709-720, 1996

Sherman L, Levanon D, Lieman-Hurwitz J, Dafni N, and Groner Y: Human Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene: molecular characterization of its two mRNA species. Nucleic Acids Res. 12: 9349-9365, 1984

Sibille Y, and Reynolds H Y: Macrophages and polymorphonuclear neutrophils in lung defense and injury. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 141: 471-501, 1990

Sies H, Stahl W, and Sundquist A R: Antioxidant functions of vitamins. Vitamins E and C, beta-carotene, and other carotenoids. Ann. N Y Acad. Sci. 669: 7-20, 1992

Slot J W, Geuze H J, Freeman B A, and Crapo J D: Intracellular localization of the copper-zinc and manganese superoxide dismutases in rat liver parenchymal cells. Lab. Invest. 55: 363-371, 1986

Smith L J, Anderson J, Shamsuddin M, and Hsueh W: Effect of fasting on hyperoxic lung injury in mice. The role of glutathione. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 141: 141-149, 1990

Smith L J, Shamsuddin M, Sporn P H S, Denenberg M, and Anderson J: Reduced superoxide dismutase in lung cells of patients with asthma. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 22: 1301-1307, 1997

Sosenko I R, and Frank L: Guinea pig lung development: antioxidant enzymes and premature survival in high O₂. Am. J. Physiol. 252: R693-R698, 1987

Speier C, and Newburger P E: Changes in superoxide dismutase, catalase, and the glutathione cycle during induced myeloid differentiation. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 251: 551-557, 1986

Spielberg S P, Boxer L A, Oliver J M, Allen J M, and Schulman J D: Oxidative damage to neutrophils in glutathione synthetase deficiency. Br. J. Haematol. 42: 215-223, 1979

Sporn S A, Eierman D F, Johnson C E, Morris J, Martin G, Ladner M, and Haskill S: Monocyte adherence results in selective induction of novel genes sharing homology with mediators of inflammation and tissue repair. J. Immunol. 144: 4434-4441, 1990

Spragg R G, Hinshaw D B, Hyslop P A, Schraufstatter I U, and Cochrane C G: Alterations in adenosine triphosphate and energy charge in cultured endothelial and P388D1 cells after oxidant injury. J. Clin. Invest. 76: 1471-1476, 1985

Strausz J, Muller-Quernheim J, Steppling H, and Ferlinz R: Oxygen radical production by alveolar inflammatory cells in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 141: 124-128, 1990

Su W Y, Folz R, Chen J S, Crapo J D, and Chang L Y: Extracellular superoxide dismutase mRNA expressions in the human lung by in situ hybridization. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 16: 162-170, 1997

Suttorp N, Toepfer W, and Roka L: Antioxidant defense mechanisms of endothelial cells: glutathione redox cycle versus catalase. Am. J. Physiol. 251: C671-C680, 1986

Sznajder J I, Fraiman A, Hall J B, Sanders W, Schmidt G, Crawford G, Nahum A, Factor P, and Wood L D: Increased hydrogen peroxide in the expired breath of patients with acute hypoxemic respiratory failure. Chest 96: 606-612, 1989

Takahashi K, Avissar N, Whitin J, and Cohen H: Purification and characterization of human plasma glutathione peroxidase: a selenoglycoprotein distinct from the known cellular enzyme. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 256: 677-686, 1987

Tang G, Berg J T, White J E, Lumb P D, Lee C Y, and Tsan M F: Protection against oxygen toxicity by tracheal insufflation of endotoxin: role of MnSOD and alveolar macrophages. Am. J. Physiol. 266: L38-L45, 1994

Tang G, White J E, Gordon R J, Lumb P D, and Tsan M F: Polyethylene glycol-conjugated superoxide dismutase protects rats against oxygen toxicity. J. Appl. Physiol. 74: 1425-1431, 1993

Tanswell A K, and Freeman B A: Pulmonary antioxidant enzyme maturation in the fetal and neonatal rat. I. Developmental profiles. Pediatr. Res. 18: 584-587, 1984

Tian L, White J E, Lin H Y, Haran V S, Sacco J, Chikkappa G, Davis F B, Davis P J, and Tsan M F: Induction of Mn SOD in human monocytes without inflammatory cytokine production by a mutant endotoxin. Am. J. Physiol. 275: C740-C747, 1998

Tsan M F: Superoxide dismutase and pulmonary oxygen toxicity. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 214: 107-113, 1997

Tsan M F, Lee C Y, and White J E: Interleukin 1 protects rats against oxygen toxicity. J. Appl. Physiol. 71: 688-697, 1991

Tsan M F, White J E, Caska B, Epstein C J, and Lee C Y: Susceptibility of heterozygous MnSOD gene-knockout mice to oxygen toxicity. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. 19: 114-120, 1998

Tsan M F, White J E, Del V P J, and Shaffer J B: IL-6 enhances TNF-alpha- and IL-1-induced increase of Mn superoxide dismutase mRNA and O_2 tolerance. Am. J. Physiol. 263: L22-L26, 1992

Tsan M F, White J E, Santana T A, and Lee C Y: Tracheal insufflation of tumor necrosis factor protects rats against oxygen toxicity. J. Appl. Physiol. 68: 1211-1219, 1990a

Tsan M F, White J E, Treanor C, and Shaffer J B: Molecular basis for tumor necrosis factorinduced increase in pulmonary superoxide dismutase activities. Am. J. Physiol. 259: L506-L512, 1990b

Turrens J F, Freeman B A, and Crapo J D: Hyperoxia increases H_2O_2 release by lung mitochondria and microsomes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 217: 411-421, 1982

Vachier I, Damon M, Le D C, de P A C, Chanez P, Michel F B, and Godard P: Increased oxygen species generation in blood monocytes of asthmatic patients. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 146: 1161-1166, 1992

Warner B B, Burhans M S, Clark J C, and Wispe J R: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha increases Mn-SOD expression: protection against oxidant injury. Am. J. Physiol. 260: L296-L301, 1991

Warner B B, Stuart L, Gebb S, and Wispe J R: Redox regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase. Am. J. Physiol. 271: L150-L158, 1996

White C W, Avraham K B, Shanley P F, and Groner Y: Transgenic mice with expression of elevated levels of copper-zinc superoxide dismutase in the lungs are resistant to pulmonary oxygen toxicity. J. Clin. Invest. 87: 2162-2168, 1991

White C W, Ghezzi P, McMahon S, Dinarello C A, and Repine J E: Cytokines increase rat lung antioxidant enzymes during exposure to hyperoxia. J. Appl. Physiol. 66: 1003-1007, 1989

Wiese A G, Pacifici R E, and Davies K J: Transient adaptation of oxidative stress in mammalian cells. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 318: 231-40, 1995

Visner G A, Block E R, Burr I M, and Nick H S: Regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase in porcine pulmonary artery endothelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. 260: L444-L449, 1991

Visner G A, Dougall W C, Wilson J M, Burr I A, and Nick H S: Regulation of manganese superoxide dismutase by lipopolysaccharide, interleukin-1, and tumor necrosis factor. Role in the acute inflammatory response. J. Biol. Chem. 265: 2856-2864, 1990

Wispe J R, Clark J C, Burhans M S, Kropp K E, Korfhagen T R, and Whitsett J A: Synthesis and processing of the precursor for human mangano-superoxide dismutase. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 994: 30-36, 1989

Wispe J R, Warner B B, Clark J C, Dey C R, Neuman J, Glasser S W, Crapo J D, Chang L Y, and Whitsett J A: Human Mn-superoxide dismutase in pulmonary epithelial cells of transgenic mice confers protection from oxygen injury. J. Biol. Chem. 267: 23937-23941, 1992

Voetman A A, and Roos D: Endogenous catalase protects human blood phagocytes against oxidative damage by extracellularly generated hydrogen peroxide. Blood 56: 846-852, 1980

Wong G H, Elwell J H, Oberley L W, and Goeddel D V: Manganous superoxide dismutase is essential for cellular resistance to cytotoxicity of tumor necrosis factor. Cell 58: 923-931, 1989

Wong G H, and Goeddel D V: Induction of manganous superoxide dismutase by tumor necrosis factor: possible protective mechanism. Science 242: 941-944, 1988

Yoo J H, Erzurum S C, Hay J G, Lemarchand P, and Crystal R G: Vulnerability of the human airway epithelium to hyperoxia. Constitutive expression of the catalase gene in human bronchial epithelial cells despite oxidant stress. J. Clin. Invest. 93: 297-302, 1994